UCLA Computational and Applied Mathematics

Computational Implications of Thermodynamically Consistent Metal Plasticity Models with a Peridynamic Approach for Ductile Fracture

Koffi Enakoutsa and Yuelian Li

Department of Mathematics University of California, Los Angeles Los Angeles, CA, 90095-1555

Contents

1	Introduction 4							
2	Overview of the formalism of GSM							
3	 Example 01: von Mises model and the class of GSM 3.1 SGM of the von Mises Model							
		von M	von Mises Model into a Finite Element Code					
	3.3	Descri	Description of the algorithm					
	3.4	Implications on the Numerical Implementation into a Finite						
	0 5	Element Code						
	3.5	3.5 Uniqueness of the Return Mapping Solution						
		3.3.1 2 5 9	Monotonicity of the Handening Law	10				
		3.0.2	Positive Definite Tangent Modulus	10				
		354	Existence of the Solution	18				
	0.0.4 EXISTENCE OF THE DOLUTION							
4	Example 02: GLD model and the class of GSM							
	4.1	Govern	ning equations of the GLD model	19				
		4.1.1	Yield criterion	19				
		4.1.2	Evolution equations of the internal variables	20				
		4.1.3	Flow rule	21				
		4.1.4	Parameterization of the yield surface	24				
		4.1.5	Nonlocal Damage Model Based on the GLD Model	25				
		4.1.6	Nonlocal Approach	25				
		4.1.7	Convolution of the Evolution Equation of the Damage	25				
		4.1.8	Applications of the Nonlocal GLD Model	25				
	4.9	4.1.9 The C	Mathematical Formulation	20				
	4.2	Ine G	LD model and the class of generalized standard materials	21				
	4.0	CLD	model	30				
		431	Numerical Algorithm	30				
		1.0.1		00				
5	Dis	cretiza	tion of the Convolution Integral of the Evolution					
	Equ	ation	of the Damage	39				
	5.1	5.1 Governing Convolution Equation						
	5.2	5.2 Discretization of the Convolution Integral						
	5.3	Choice	e of Weighting Function	40				

	5.4	Efficient Neighbor Search	40								
	5.5	Quadrature for Finite Elements	40								
	5.6	Handling Boundary Conditions	40								
	5.7	Algorithm for the Numerical Convolution	41								
	5.8	Computational Considerations and Parallelization	41								
	5.9	Advantages of using the GSM framework	42								
6	App	olication 1: Simulation of a 2D Compact Tension (CT)									
	specimen										
7	Applications 2: Simulation of Ductile Fracture in a Notched										
	Steel Plate using the GLD Damage Model with Peridynam-										
	\mathbf{ics}		51								
	7.1	Generalities	51								
	7.2	GLD Damage Model	51								
	7.3	Peridynamic Theory	51								
	7.4	Interaction Kernel	52								
	7.5	Combining GLD with Peridynamics	52								
		7.5.1 Damage in Peridynamics	52								
		7.5.2 Numerical Implementation	52								
		7.5.3 Time Integration	53								
		7.5.4 Algorithm Steps	53								
	7.6	Simulation Results	54								
8	Cor	nclusion	60								
-	Арре	endix A Class of Generalized Standard Materials	63								
	Ap	pendix A.1 Generalities	63								
	Ap	pendix A.2 Properties of the GSMs	64								
		Appendix A.2.1 Property 1	64								
		Appendix A.2.2 Property 2	64								
	Appendix A.2.3 Property 3										
-	Appe	endix B Material parameters for the simulations	67								

Abstract

This paper investigates the relationship between two plasticity models: the von Mises plasticity model with isotropic hardening and the GLD model, situated within the class of generalized standard materials characterized by a reversible elastic energy density and a dissipation potential. Our analysis demonstrates that, within the linearized theory framework, the constitutive equations of both plasticity models define generalized standard materials, emphasizing the implications for the robustness of the projection algorithm employed in the finite element implementation of these models. Additionally, we discuss the practical ability of the GLD model to reproduce the fracture behavior observed in a compact specimen subjected to a fracture test. We further explore the integration of the Gurson-Leblond-Devaux (GLD) damage model with the peridynamic framework to model ductile fracture, a complex phenomenon influenced by microstructural features such as void formation and growth. While the GLD model effectively captures damage evolution through a damage variable accounting for voids in ductile materials, the peridynamic theory provides a non-local approach to the continuum mechanics that describe crack initiation and propagation. By combining these methodologies, this work aims to enhance predictive capabilities for material failure under various loading conditions, contributing to a deeper understanding of the mathematical foundations and computational stability of these models in numerical simulations.

Keywords: Generalized standard materials, von Mises model, Plasticity, Projection problem

1. Introduction

The formalism of generalized standard materials (GSM) was first introduced by Halphen and Nguyen (1975) in the context of elasto-plasticity. In short, the constitutive equations of GSM are described by the expressions of the elastic energy density (also called reversible elastic potential) and the dissipation potential. The elastic energy density, stored in the material by its deformation under external stimuli, provides by derivation of the Cauchy stress and the thermodynamics forces, while the dissipation potential, gives rise to the evolution equations of the internal state variables. The formalism GSM was developed within the framework of linearized theory and is suitable for rate-independent materials. Although these two restrictions may limit the use of this formalism to describe a vast majority of materials and their behaviors under various external conditions, the success credited to the GSM approach is tremendous in view of the nice local and global stability properties it offers for robust numerical implementations in finite element subroutines. Of course, for other materials, additional precautions are required to guarantee local and global stabilities of numerical schemes, since the tangent stiffness matrix can become non-invertible during nonlinear analyses.

Initially developed in the context of small strain rate independent elastoplasticity by Halphen and Nguyen (1975) and later on reviewed by Ziegler and Wehrli (1987), the GSM formalism was extended to finite strain elastoplasticity by Hackl (1997). The later extension was proposed as an alternative theoretical framework to overcome the usual problems encountered in the use of classical finite elasto-plasticity models. These problems include arbitrariness in the choice of yield functions and flow rules, difficulty to obtain a clear distinction between the concept of frame indifference and material symmetry which is complicated by the unclear role played by the introduction of the intermediate configuration¹, and generally non-equivalence between the yield functions obtained in the different configurations introduced by the adoption of a multiplicative decomposition of the deformation gradient, see Lee (1969). Once developed, the GSM framework has contin-

¹Some authors may argue that the velocity gradient can be additively decomposed into an elastic and plastic parts *only* in the intermediate configuration; however, from the authors' point of view, this can simply be a heuristic assumption from the beginning, exactly as in the small strain formulation where the Eularian deformation rate is additively decomposed into an elastic and a plastic part

uously played a key role in the modeling of materials, see Fremond (2002), Hackl (1997), Maugin (1992) among other authors, and ductile fracture in porous solids, see Enakoutsa et al. (2007). The application of this formalism to metal plasticity, whether governed by the classical von Mises model or advanced models such as the GLD framework for ductile fracture, which incorporates cavity shape effects under the linearized theory assumption, or within the context of J_2 plasticity, has been sparsely explored in the literature. The limited attention given to these formulations highlights the need for further investigation into their thermodynamics consistency and numerical implementation. This study aims to rigorously bridge this gap by developing a comprehensive analysis of these models and their implications. In particular, we will analyze the relationship between the Generalized Standard Materials (GSM) framework and metal plasticity models, focusing on the von Mises yield criterion as a foundational case, and extending the analysis to the more complex GLD model for ductile fracture, incorporating cavity shape effects. In addition, we present a comprehensive and robust integration of the Gurson-Leblond-Devaux (GLD) damage model with the peridynamic framework to capture the highly intricate process of ductile fracture, which is profoundly influenced by microstructural phenomena such as void nucleation, growth, and coalescence. The GLD model excels in accurately describing damage evolution by employing a damage variable that meticulously accounts for void dynamics in ductile materials. Meanwhile, the peridynamic theory introduces a powerful non-local approach to continuum mechanics, offering a sophisticated mechanism to model crack initiation and propagation. By synergistically combining these advanced methodologies, our work significantly enhances the predictive accuracy of material failure across diverse loading conditions. This integrated framework not only advances computational stability but also offers a profound insight into the mathematical underpinnings of ductile fracture, marking a pivotal contribution to numerical simulations in this domain. The outline of the paper is as follows.

- Section 2 gives an overview of some of the work of Halphen and Nguyen (1975) and Nguyen (1977) on generalized standard materials.
- Section 3 demonstrates how the constitutive relations of the classical small strain the von Mises model with isotropic hardening defines a generalized standard material. In addition, we discuss the benefits of this property on the numerical implementation of von Mises model into a numerical subroutine using the well-known projection algorithm.

- Section 4 offers a thorough analysis of the interaction between the Generalized Standard Materials (GSM) framework and the constitutive equations of the GLD model for ductile fracture, with a particular emphasis on the mathematical formulation of cavity shape effects. Additionally, we address the projection problem that arises in the numerical implementation of the model within a finite element framework. We establish that, under the assumptions of fixed porosity and a constant cavity shape factor, the projection problem results in a unique solution, thereby ensuring numerical stability and convergence. Furthermore, as a practical application of the GLD model, we present simulations of the fracture behavior of a Compact Test specimen subjected to tensile loading. These simulations align closely with experimental data for the 16 MND Steel.
- Section 5 introduces the peridynamic framework, a non-local approach to continuum mechanics, and integrates it with the Gurson-Leblond-Devaux (GLD) damage model to tackle the complexities of ductile fracture. While the GLD model captures damage evolution through a void-based damage variable, peridynamics offers a robust method for describing crack initiation and propagation. This combination strengthens the predictive accuracy for material failure under various loading conditions and deepens our understanding of the computational and mathematical foundations governing these models.

2. Overview of the formalism of GSM

In this section, we give a brief summary of some aspects of the works of Halphen and Nguyen (1975) and Nguyen (1977) on GSM. The theory is applicable only in the context of linearized theory.

The constitutive law of a generalized standard material is described by two thermodynamic potentials. The first one is the free energy $\psi(\epsilon, \alpha)$, which is a function of the strain tensor ϵ and a family of internal variables collectively denoted α . This function must be convex with respect to both the variables ϵ and α taken separately. (Convexity with respect to the global variable (ϵ, α) is not required). The stress tensor σ and the thermodynamic force **F** associated to α are then given by

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} \equiv \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}(\boldsymbol{\epsilon}, \boldsymbol{\alpha}) \quad ; \quad \mathbf{F} \equiv -\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial \boldsymbol{\alpha}}(\boldsymbol{\epsilon}, \boldsymbol{\alpha}). \tag{1}$$

The second thermodynamic potential is the dissipation potential $\phi(\dot{\alpha})$. This function must be convex, non-negative, and zero for $\dot{\alpha} = 0$. It governs the evolution equations of the internal variables through the equivalent equations

$$\mathbf{F} \in \partial \phi(\dot{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}) \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \dot{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} \in \partial \tilde{\phi}(\mathbf{F}) \tag{2}$$

where $\tilde{\phi}$ denotes the Legendre-Fenchel transform of ϕ , and $\partial \phi$ and $\partial \tilde{\phi}$ the sub-differentials of ϕ and $\tilde{\phi}$. In the case of a time-independent behavior, as considered in this paper, ϕ is a positively homogeneous function of degree 1 of $\dot{\alpha}$. Its Legendre-Fenchel transform $\tilde{\phi}$ is then the indicator function of a closed convex set C (the *reversibility domain*) in the space of thermodynamic forces \mathbf{F} . This set is defined by an inequality of the type $\Phi(\mathbf{F}) \leq 0$ for some function Φ , the sub-differential $\partial \tilde{\phi}(\mathbf{F})$ consists of the sole vector $\mathbf{0}$ if \mathbf{F} lies in the interior of C, of the half-straight line { $\eta(\partial \Phi/\partial \mathbf{F})(\mathbf{F}), \eta \geq 0$ } if \mathbf{F} lies on the boundary of C, and is empty if \mathbf{F} lies outside C. The evolution law (2)₂ of $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$ may thus be re-written in the equivalent form

$$\dot{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} = \eta \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \mathbf{F}}(\mathbf{F}) \quad , \quad \eta \begin{cases} = 0 & \text{if} \quad \Phi(\mathbf{F}) < 0\\ \ge 0 & \text{if} \quad \Phi(\mathbf{F}) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(3)

This means that the evolution of α obeys a kind of "generalized normality property".

Generalized standard materials obey several nice properties. The first one is that the evolution equation $(2)_2$ of α automatically warrants *nonnegativeness of the dissipation* \mathcal{D} , and thus thermodynamic consistency of the model.

The second property is given as follows. Let quantities at time t be denoted with an upper index ⁰ and quantities at $t + \Delta t$ without any special symbol. Then, provided that the evolution equation (2) of $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$ is discretized in time with an implicit scheme, the determination of the value of $\boldsymbol{\alpha} \equiv \boldsymbol{\alpha}(t+\Delta t)$ from those of $\boldsymbol{\epsilon}^0 \equiv \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(t)$, $\boldsymbol{\alpha}^0 \equiv \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(t)$ and $\Delta \boldsymbol{\epsilon} \equiv \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(t + \Delta t) - \boldsymbol{\epsilon}(t) \equiv \boldsymbol{\epsilon} - \boldsymbol{\epsilon}^0$ (projection problem) is equivalent to minimizing the function

$$\chi(\mathbf{e}, \mathbf{a}^0, \Delta \mathbf{a}) \equiv \psi(\mathbf{e}, \mathbf{a}^0 + \Delta \mathbf{a}) + \phi(\Delta \mathbf{a})$$
(4)

with respect to $\Delta \alpha$.

The third property which is a consequence of the second one, is that of symmetry of the tangent matrix of the global elasto-plastic iterations.

The proofs of the three previous properties were widely discussed in Enakoutsa et al. (2007) in the context of ductile fracture of porous solids and are not repeated here.

3. Example 01: von Mises model and the class of GSM

The objective of this section is to demonstrate that the constitutive relations of the von Mises plasticity model with isotropic hardening define a generalized standard material. We begin by recalling the constitutive equations of this model which consist of several elements.

• The first element, the von Mises yield criterion with isotropic hardening, reads

$$\sigma_{eq} \equiv \left[\frac{3}{2}\sigma'_{ij}\sigma'_{ij}\right]^{\frac{1}{2}} \le \sigma(\varepsilon_{eq}) = \bar{\sigma}.$$
(5)

In this equation σ_{eq} denotes the "von Mises equivalent stress", σ' is the deviatoric stress tensor, and $\sigma(\varepsilon_{eq})$ represents the yield stress in simple tension which depends on the "von Mises cumulative equivalent plastic strain" ε_{eq} defined by:

$$\varepsilon_{eq} \equiv \int_0^t \dot{\varepsilon}_{eq}(r) \mathrm{d}r \quad , \quad \dot{\varepsilon}_{eq} \equiv \left[\frac{2}{3}\dot{\varepsilon}_{ij}\dot{\varepsilon}_{ij}\right]^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
 (6)

where $\dot{\varepsilon}_{eq}$ is the "von Mises equivalent plastic strain rate". The parameter $\sigma(\varepsilon_{eq})$ is usually determined experimentally by means of simple tension tests. For the sake of simplicity, we idealize this function by a linear formula in the form:

$$\sigma(\varepsilon_{eq}) = \sigma_0 + h\varepsilon_{eq} \tag{7}$$

where σ_0 represents the initial (obtained before the appearance of any strain hardening) yield stress in simple tension tests, and H is a positive hardening slope.

• The second element is the Prandlt-Reuss flow rule which obeys the "normality rule" and is defined as:

$$\dot{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}}^{p} = \frac{3}{2} \frac{\dot{\varepsilon}_{eq}}{\sigma_{eq}} \boldsymbol{\sigma}', \quad \dot{\varepsilon}_{eq} \begin{cases} = 0 & \text{if } \sigma_{eq} < \sigma(\varepsilon_{eq}) \\ \\ \geq 0 & \text{if } \sigma_{eq} = \sigma(\varepsilon_{eq}). \end{cases}$$
(8)

We shall now show that these equations satisfy the required properties to fit in the class of generalized standard materials. To that end, we must first define the state variables and the free energy or the elastic potential of the material, then check that the latter meets the required properties defined in Section 2.

3.1. SGM of the von Mises Model

The state of the material is described by the following variables: the components of the total strain ε and a set of internal variables including the components of the plastic deformation ε^p and the mean equivalent plastic strain. The free energy is defined as an elastic deformation energy plus a "blocked" strain hardening energy

$$\psi(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}, \varepsilon_{eq}) = \frac{1}{2} (\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}) : \mathbf{C} : (\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}) + \int_{0}^{\varepsilon_{eq}} \sigma(\varepsilon) \mathrm{d}\varepsilon$$
(9)

where **C** is the fourth-rank elastic stiffness matrix and $\sigma(\varepsilon_{eq})$ is the yield stress which depends upon the cumulative plastic strain.

With this definition, it is obvious that the free energy ψ is strictly convex with respect to the internal variable ε , the quadratic form defined by **C** being positive-definite. The free energy is also strictly convex with respect to ε^p for the same reason, as previously invoked. Thanks to the fact that the hardening slope is positive, the free energy is also strictly convex with respect to the variable ε_{eq} . Furthermore, the free energy is the sum of two strictly convex functions depending upon ε^p and ε_{eq} ; consequently, the free energy is strictly convex with respect to the global variable ($\varepsilon^p, \varepsilon_{eq}$) as desired.

The derivative of ψ with respect to $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}$ is equal to $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$, as also desired, and the thermodynamic forces $\mathbf{F}^{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^p}$ and $F^{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{eq}}$, associated with the internal variables $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^p$ and $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{eq}$, are given by

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{F}^{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}} = -\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}} = \mathbf{C} : (\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}) = \boldsymbol{\sigma} \\ F^{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{eq}} = -\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{eq}} = -\sigma(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{eq}) \equiv \boldsymbol{\sigma} \end{cases}$$
(10)

(by definition of the current yield stress $\bar{\sigma}$.) In addition, the derivative of ψ with respect to ε gives σ , as required. Indeed, we have $\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial \varepsilon} = C : (\varepsilon - \varepsilon^p) = \sigma$. The thermodynamic forces associated with the internal variable ε^p are given by $F \equiv -\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial \varepsilon^p} = C : (\varepsilon - \varepsilon^p) - c\varepsilon^p = \sigma - \alpha$, $\alpha = c\varepsilon^p$, as also desired. The part task to complete is to check that the reversibility domain do

The next task to complete is to check that the reversibility domain defined by von Mises yield criterion with isotropic hardening in the space of thermodynamic forces (by expressing von Mises yield function as a function of the variables $\mathbf{F}^{\varepsilon^{p}}$ and $F^{\varepsilon_{eq}}$, instead of the variables $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ and σ) is convex. The transformation of the variables $(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \sigma)$ to $(\mathbf{F}^{\varepsilon^{p}}, F^{\varepsilon_{eq}}) = (\boldsymbol{\sigma}, -\sigma)$ being linear, it suffices to show that the reversibility domain in the space of the first variables, $\mathcal{C} \equiv \{(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \sigma); \quad \Phi(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \sigma) \leq 0\}$, is convex. This is obvious due to the fact that von Mises yield function Φ^{-2} is a convex function with respect to the global variable $(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \sigma)$. Indeed,

$$\Phi(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \bar{\sigma}) = \Phi(\mathbf{F}^{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}}, \mathbf{F}^{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{eq}}) = \sigma_{eq} - \bar{\sigma} = ||\mathbf{F}^{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p'}}|| + \mathbf{F}^{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{eq}}$$
(11)

where the symbol ||.|| denotes the Eucludian norm. It follows that von Mises yield function Φ is convex; hence, by the linearity of the transformation of the variables $(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \bar{\sigma})$ to $(\mathbf{F}^{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}}, \mathbf{F}^{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{eq}}) = (\boldsymbol{\sigma}, -\bar{\sigma})$, the reversibility domain is convex with respect to the global variable $(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \bar{\sigma})$.

The last thing to check is that the evolution equations associated to the internal variables ε^p and ε_{eq} satisfy the "generalized normality rule" with respect to the von Mises yield function, expressed as a function of the thermodynamic forces, i.e.:

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}}^{p} = \eta \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \mathbf{F}^{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}}} \equiv \eta \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \boldsymbol{\sigma}} \\ \dot{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}}_{eq} = \eta \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial F^{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{eq}}} \equiv -\eta \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \boldsymbol{\sigma}} \end{cases}$$
(12)

Note that the evolution equation $(12)_1$ is equivalent to the flow rule associated with the yield criterion by the normality property. It suffices, to complete the verification, to check that the evolution equation $(12)_2$ is satisfied. And yet

$$\Phi(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \sigma) = \sigma_{eq} - \sigma \quad \Rightarrow \quad \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \sigma_{ij}} = \frac{3}{2} \frac{\sigma_{ij}'}{\sigma_{eq}} \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \sigma} = -1.$$

The relation $(12)_1$ then gives

$$\dot{\varepsilon}_{ij}^p = \eta \frac{3}{2} \frac{\sigma'_{ij}}{\sigma_{eq}}.$$
(13)

Taking the magnitude of both sides of Eq.(13), we get

 $\eta = \dot{\varepsilon}_{eq},$

 $^{^{2}}$ The expression of the yield criterion (5) allows to define such a function

which is precisely the value of η given by Eq.(12)₂. Hence, the "generalized normality rule" with respect to the global variable ($\varepsilon, \varepsilon_{eq}$) is satisfied. This proves that the small strain von Mises plasticity model with isotropic hardening can be described within the context of generalized standard materials, which guarantees that this model is automatically thermodynically consistent. From the numerical point of view, the generalized standard character of von Mises model ensures that the tangent matrix associated with the global elasto-plastic iterations is symmetric; this should avoid spurious problems of non-invertible matrix arising during nonlinear analyses. The property also warrants that the problem of projection of the elastically computed stress tensor onto the yield locus (plastic correction of the spoke predictor) admits a unique solution, provided that the equations of this problem are obtained through implicit time-discretization with respect to the components of the plastic strain and the hardening parameter.

3.2. Implications in terms of Numerical implementation of the von Mises Model into a Finite Element Code

3.3. Description of the algorithm

The implementation of the global step may introduce complexities; however, this is not a concern when integrating a new plasticity model into a computational code, as the global step is entirely independent of the discretization (mesh) used. The primary focus should be on the local step, which requires careful attention. Specifically, only the material points (integration points) where the elastic and plastic strain increments, as well as the associated stress and strain tensors, are computed will be considered.

In practice, all Gauss points across the structure are processed sequentially, but this is handled automatically by the software, so there is no need for concern. The emphasis will remain on the local step. Quantities denoted by (0) correspond to time t, while those without indices represent time $t+\Delta t$. Known quantities include $\sigma^{(0)}$, $\varepsilon_{eq}^{(0)}$, and $\Delta \varepsilon$ (the total strain increment between time t and $t + \Delta t$). The uniform application of the following formula is then carried out

$$\sigma^* = \sigma^{(0)} + \lambda \left(\operatorname{tr}(\Delta \varepsilon) \right) \mathbf{I} + 2\mu \Delta \varepsilon$$

where σ^* is called the "elastically computed stress" or "elastic predictor"; it represents the final value of the stress, assuming that the total strain increment is purely elastic.

There are several technical reasons for considering σ^* instead of handling σ^0 and $\Delta \varepsilon$ separately. One key reason is that in the absence of plastic deformation between times t and $t + \Delta t$, the final stress σ simply equals σ^* .

(Note that if plasticity is involved, σ^* will not converge to σ at the end of the iterative process, as σ^* represents the stress assuming purely elastic behavior, which is not applicable in the presence of plasticity.)

The task is to compute the elastic and plastic strain increments $(\Delta \varepsilon^e + \Delta \varepsilon^p)$, the equivalent strain increment $\Delta \varepsilon_{eq}$, and the final stress. We first employ the elasticity constitutive law:

$$\varepsilon^e = \frac{1+\nu}{E}\sigma - \frac{\nu}{E}(\operatorname{tr}(\sigma))\mathbf{I}$$

and the assumption of the additivity of the deformation.

$$\sigma = \sigma^{(0)} + \lambda \left(\operatorname{tr} \left(\Delta \varepsilon^{e} \right) \right) \mathbf{I} + 2\mu \Delta \varepsilon^{e}$$

$$= \sigma^{(0)} + \lambda \left(\operatorname{tr} \left(\Delta \varepsilon - \Delta \varepsilon^{p} \right) \right) \mathbf{I} + 2\mu \left(\Delta \varepsilon - \Delta \varepsilon^{p} \right)$$

$$= \sigma^{(0)} + \lambda \left(\operatorname{tr} \left(\Delta \varepsilon \right) \right) \mathbf{I} + 2\mu \Delta \varepsilon - \left(\lambda \operatorname{tr} \left(\Delta \varepsilon^{p} \right) \mathbf{I} + 2\mu \Delta \varepsilon^{p} \right)$$

$$= \sigma^{(0)} + \lambda \left(\operatorname{tr} \left(\Delta \varepsilon \right) \right) \mathbf{I} + 2\mu \Delta \varepsilon - 2\mu \Delta \varepsilon^{p}$$

$$= \sigma^{\star} - 2\mu \Delta \varepsilon^{p}$$
(14)

The term $2\mu\Delta\varepsilon^p$ is referred to as the "plastic correction." This correction is applied to the elastic predictor to obtain the final stress value.

Secondly, the plastic flow rule will be used, discretized with an implicit scheme (note that σ_{eq} and **s** are evaluated at time $t + \Delta t$):

$$\Delta \varepsilon^{p} = \frac{3}{2} \left(\frac{\Delta \varepsilon_{eq}}{\sigma_{eq}} \right) \mathbf{s};$$
$$\Delta \varepsilon_{eq} = \frac{2}{3} \left(\Delta \varepsilon_{ij}^{p} \Delta \varepsilon_{ij}^{p} \right)$$

The last equation represents one of the von Mises criteria, evaluated at time $t + \Delta t$.

$$\sigma_{\rm eq} = \sigma_y \left(\varepsilon_{\rm eq} \right) = \sigma_y \left(\varepsilon_{\rm eq}^{(0)} + \Delta \varepsilon_{\rm eq} \right) = \sigma_y \left(\varepsilon_{\rm eq}^{(0)} \right) + h \Delta \varepsilon_{\rm eq}$$

in other words,

$$\sigma_{y}\left(\varepsilon_{\rm eq}^{(0)} + \Delta\varepsilon_{\rm eq}\right) = \sigma_{y}\left(\varepsilon_{\rm eq}^{(0)}\right) + \sigma_{y}\left(\Delta\varepsilon_{\rm eq}\right)$$

The equations for this phase to consider are therefore as follows:

$$\mathcal{S}: \begin{cases} \sigma = \sigma^{\star} - 2\mu\Delta\varepsilon^{p} \\ \Delta\varepsilon^{p} = \frac{3}{2}\frac{\Delta\varepsilon_{\mathrm{eq}}}{\sigma_{\mathrm{eq}}}\mathbf{s} \\ \sigma_{\mathrm{eq}} = \sigma_{y}\left(\varepsilon_{\mathrm{eq}}^{(0)}\right) + h\Delta\varepsilon_{\mathrm{eq}} \end{cases}$$

Of course, the previous equations help to better understand the meaning of this section. The algorithm is implicit due to $\Delta \varepsilon^p = \frac{3}{2} \frac{\Delta \varepsilon_{eq}}{\sigma_{eq}} \mathbf{s}$, which involves an implicit scheme.

The elastically computed stresses, denoted as σ^* , are projected onto the von Mises criterion. Specifically, the final stresses σ are derived from the elastically computed stresses σ^* by subtracting $2\mu\Delta\varepsilon^p$, which is collinear with σ and thus orthogonal to the yield surface defined by the von Mises criterion at the stress point σ .

Let us now solve the system (S). By differentiating the first equation of the system and combining it with the second equation, we obtain:

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{s} &= \mathbf{s}^{\star} - 2\mu\Delta\varepsilon^{p} \\ &= \mathbf{s}^{\star} - 2\mu\left(\frac{3}{2}\frac{\Delta\varepsilon_{eq}}{\sigma_{eq}}\right)\mathbf{s} \\ &= \mathbf{s}^{\star} - 3\mu\frac{\Delta\varepsilon_{eq}}{\sigma_{eq}}\mathbf{s} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \mathbf{s}^{\star} = \left(1 + 3\mu\frac{\Delta\varepsilon_{eq}}{\sigma_{eq}}\right)\mathbf{s} \end{split}$$

where s represents the derivative of the elastically computed stress tensor. The equation illustrates a fundamental characteristic of the implicit algorithm and its projection onto the criterion: the derivative of the final stress tensor is positively collinear with σ . This property significantly simplifies the solution process, as it reduces the problem to iteratively solving a scalar equation for the unknown $\Delta \varepsilon_{eq}$. This simplification is not generally available with other types of plasticity criteria, nor with explicit algorithmic approaches.

For example, if we were to explicitly write out the time discretization of the flow rule (i.e., using an explicit scheme for the time discretization of the flow rule), we would have

$$\Delta \varepsilon^p = \frac{3}{2} \frac{\Delta \varepsilon_{\rm eq}}{\sigma_{\rm eq}^{(0)}} \mathbf{s}^{(0)}$$

which would have implied

$$\mathbf{s} = \mathbf{s}^{\star} - 3\mu \frac{\Delta \varepsilon_{\rm eq}}{\sigma_{\rm eq}^{(0)}} \mathbf{s}^{(0)}$$

and we would have lost the collinearity of s and s^* .

Taking the von Mises norm of the expression $\mathbf{s}^{\star} = \left(\mu + 3\mu \frac{\Delta \varepsilon_{eq}}{\sigma_{eq}}\right) \mathbf{s}$, we get

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{3}{2} \end{pmatrix}^{1/2} (s^* : s^*)^{1/2} = \left(1 + 3\mu \frac{\Delta \varepsilon_{\text{eq}}}{\sigma_{\text{eq}}}\right) \left(\frac{3}{2} s_{ij} s_{ij}\right)^{1/2}$$
$$\sigma_{\text{eq}}^* = \left(1 + 3\mu \frac{\Delta \varepsilon_{\text{eq}}}{\sigma_{\text{eq}}}\right) \sigma_{\text{eq}}$$
$$= \sigma_{\text{eq}} + 3\mu \Delta \varepsilon_{\text{eq}}.$$

Using the expression:

$$\sigma_{eq} = \sigma_y \left(\varepsilon_{eq}^{(0)} \right) + h \Delta \varepsilon_{eq}$$

we get

$$\sigma_{\rm eq}^{\star} = \sigma_y \left(\varepsilon_{\rm eq}^{(0)} \right) + h\Delta\varepsilon_{\rm eq} + 3\mu\Delta\varepsilon_{\rm eq}$$
$$= \sigma_{\rm eq} \left(\varepsilon_{\rm eq}^{(0)} \right) + (h+3\mu)\Delta\varepsilon_{\rm eq}$$

which implies that

$$\Delta \varepsilon_{\rm eq} = \frac{\sigma_{\rm eq}^{\star} - \sigma_{\rm eq} \left(\varepsilon_{\rm eq}^{(0)} \right)}{h + 3\mu}.$$

When $\Delta \varepsilon_{eq}$ is known, ε_{eq} is immediately incremented as:

$$\varepsilon_{eq} = \varepsilon_{eq}^{(0)} + \Delta \varepsilon_{eq}.$$

Similarly $\Delta \varepsilon^p$ is given by

$$\begin{split} \Delta \varepsilon^p &= \frac{3}{2} \frac{\Delta \varepsilon_{eq}}{\sigma_{eq}} \mathbf{s} \\ \mathbf{s}^{\star} &= \left(1 + 3\mu \frac{\Delta \varepsilon_{eq}}{\sigma_{eq}} \right) \mathbf{s} \end{split}$$

which implies

$$\mathbf{s} = \left(\frac{1}{1+3\mu \frac{\Delta \varepsilon_{eq}}{\sigma_{eq}}}\right) \mathbf{s}^{\star}.$$

From there we have

$$\Delta \varepsilon^p = \frac{3}{2} \frac{\Delta \varepsilon_{eq}}{\sigma_{eq}^*} s^*.$$

From the equation

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\star} - 2\mu\Delta\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^p \tag{15}$$

we deduce the value of σ .

In fact, the preceding analysis only accounts for the scenario where plasticity occurs within the interval $[t, t+\Delta t]$. This happens when the equivalent stress is slightly below the threshold $(\sigma_{eq}^{\star} - \sigma_{y}^{(0)})$.

More precisely, this implies that the equivalent stress at $[t, t + \Delta t]$, computed under the assumption of purely elastic behavior, exceeds the yield strength for the current value of the accumulated strain $\varepsilon_{eq}^{(0)}$.

There may be cases where the stress is marginally below the threshold $tr \leq 0$, indicating the absence of plastic deformation between t and $t + \Delta t$

In such situations, we impose $\left(\Delta \varepsilon_{eq} = 0; \varepsilon_{eq} = \varepsilon_{eq}^{(0)} \text{ and } \sigma = \sigma^*\right)$. Thus, it follows that $\Delta \varepsilon_{eq} = 0$, $\varepsilon_{eq} = \varepsilon_{eq}^{(0)}$ and $\sigma = \sigma^*$.

It is important to note that the algorithm remains agnostic as to whether the material exhibits plastic behavior at time t. Indeed, it only evaluates the von Mises yield criterion at $t + \Delta t$, rather than at the initial time t.

The algorithm is applied without modification, even if the material is elastic at time t and becomes plastic at time $t + \Delta t$, such that $t' \in [t, t + \Delta t]$.

3.4. Implications on the Numerical Implementation into a Finite Element Code

As established in Section 4, the von Mises model characterizes a generalized standard material, incorporating plastic strain as an internal state variable. This formulation guarantees the existence and uniqueness of the solution to the associated projection problem, provided the evolution equations governing plastic strain is temporally discretized using an implicit integration scheme. However, the analysis presented in Section 4 is restricted to the context of a linearized kinematic framework, which can be overly simplistic for plasticity simulations involving large deformations. By extending the approach of Enakoutsa et al. (2007), it is possible to remove the limitations imposed by the linearized theory, allowing for the investigation of how large deformation gradients, including both displacements and strains, affect the numerical stability and accuracy of the implementation:

- At time step t + Δt, the equilibrium equations must be solved by updating the configuration of the geometry at this instant. This update is performed exclusively at the beginning of each outer elasto-plastic iteration, ensuring that the geometry remains fixed during the resolution of the subsequent projection problem. As a result, the projection problem is formulated with a frozen geometry, ensuring that the mathematical properties, such as existence, uniqueness, and stability of the solution, remain invariant under the geometric update at t+Δt
- For large strains and displacements, the classical elasticity law must be replaced by a hypoelastic formulation, utilizing an objective stress rate such as the Jaumann derivative. This objective derivative accounts not only for the conventional material time derivative but also incorporates non-trivial contributions involving the Cauchy stress tensor, the deformation gradient, and the velocity gradient. As demonstrated by Enakoutsa et al. (2007), discretizing these additional terms using an explicit time-stepping scheme introduces known quantities that remain fixed throughout each global elasto-plastic iteration. These terms effectively serve as corrective modifications to the elastic stress predictor and do not impact the mathematical properties, such as the existence or uniqueness, of the local projection problem.

3.5. Uniqueness of the Return Mapping Solution

To prove the uniqueness of the solution in the return mapping algorithm, we rely on the following points:

3.5.1. Convexity of the Return Map

The plastic potential $f(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \sigma_Y)$ is convex meaning that when the trial stress violates the yield condition, there is a unique way for the stress state to return to the yield surface. This ensures that the stress correction $\boldsymbol{\sigma}(t + \Delta t)$ is unique.

3.5.2. Monotonicity of the Hardening Law

The isotropic hardening law $\sigma(\varepsilon_{eq})$ is monotonic, meaning that the yield stress always increases with increasing plastic strain (or remains constant in the case of perfect plasticity). This prevents oscillations or multiple solutions for the updated yield stress and plastic strain.

3.5.3. Positive Definite Tangent Modulus

In the Newton-Raphson iterative scheme used to solve the nonlinear system in the return mapping algorithm, the key quantity is the consistent tangent modulus, which governs how the stress and plastic strain are updated at each iteration. For von Mises plasticity, the consistent tangent operator is positive definite, meaning that the Newton-Raphson iterations will always converge to a unique solution.

The consistent tangent modulus is derived from the stress-strain relationship and the plastic flow rule. It takes the form:

$$\mathbf{C}_{\text{tan}} = \mathbf{C} - \frac{(\mathbf{C} : \mathbf{n}) \otimes (\mathbf{C} : \mathbf{n})}{\mathbf{n} : \mathbf{C} : \mathbf{n} + h}$$
(16)

where \mathbf{n} is the normal to the yield surface, and h is the hardening modulus.

Since **C** (the elastic stiffness tensor) is positive definite and $h \ge 0$ (for isotropic hardening), the consistent tangent modulus remains positive definite, ensuring that the return mapping algorithm converges to a unique solution.

3.5.4. Existence of the Solution

The return mapping algorithm ensures the existence of a solution by construction. The trial stress state is always projected back onto the yield surface in the direction of plastic flow, meaning that a solution always exists for the updated stress and plastic strain at each time increment.

In conclusion, by leveraging the convexity of the yield function, the positive definiteness of the tangent modulus, and the monotonicity of the hardening law, the return mapping algorithm for von Mises plasticity with isotropic hardening is guaranteed to have a unique solution. The iterative process used in the return mapping algorithm converges reliably due to these properties, ensuring that the stress and plastic strain are updated in a well-posed and physically consistent manner at each time step.

4. Example 02: GLD model and the class of GSM

4.1. Governing equations of the GLD model

In the model proposed by Gologanu et al. (1997), the cavities are assumed to be ellipsoidal and axisymmetric, and aligned in the third direction of the cartesian system of coordinates (\mathbf{e}_1 , \mathbf{e}_2 , \mathbf{e}_3). The porosity f is defined as the ratio of the cavities volume to the total volume of the matter and the cavities. The shape factor of cavities is defined as the logarithm of the ratio of the axis of a cavity in the direction \mathbf{e}_3 and a perpendicular direction.

Just like the majority of classical plasticity models in large deformation, the GLD model introduces an assumption of additive decomposition of the Eulerian strain rate into elastic and plastic parts, $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} \equiv \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^e + \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^p$, and a hypoelasticity law connecting the elastic strain rate $\boldsymbol{\epsilon}^e$ to some objective time-derivative of the Cauchy stress tensor $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$. We shall not insist on these standard features but focus on the new elements of the model, which are defined below.

4.1.1. Yield criterion

The yield criterion is given by the relation

$$\Phi(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, f, S, \bar{\sigma}) \equiv \frac{C}{\bar{\sigma}^2} ||\boldsymbol{\sigma}' + \eta \sigma_h \mathbf{X}|| + 2q(g+1)(g+f) \cosh\left(K\frac{\sigma_h}{\bar{\sigma}}\right) -(g+1)^2 - q^2(g+f)^2 = 0 \quad (17)$$

where

- σ' represents the deviatoric part of the stress tensor σ ;
- X is the tensor defined as

$$\mathbf{X} = \frac{1}{3} \left(-\mathbf{e}_1 \otimes \mathbf{e}_1 - \mathbf{e}_2 \otimes \mathbf{e}_2 + 2\mathbf{e}_3 \otimes \mathbf{e}_3 \right)$$
(18)

(the unit vector \mathbf{e}_3 is parallel to the axis of the cavities);

• ||.|| is the von Mises magnitude symbol given by

$$||\mathbf{T}|| \equiv \left(\frac{3}{2}\,\mathbf{T}':\mathbf{T}'\right)^{1/2}\tag{19}$$

(we shall adopt in the subsequent simplified notation

$$\sigma_{eq} = ||\boldsymbol{\sigma}' + \eta \sigma_h \mathbf{X}||) \tag{20}$$

- $\bar{\sigma}$ represents some average value of the yield stress in the heterogeneous metallic matrix;
- C, η, K, g are the GLPD model parameters that depend on the porosity f and the shape factor of the cavities S; their expressions can be found in Gologanu et al. (1997) and are not repeated here;
- the stress σ_h is defined as:

$$\sigma_h = \alpha_2(\sigma_{11} + \sigma_{22}) + (1 - 2\alpha_2)\sigma_{33} \tag{21}$$

where α_2 is a parameter depending on the porosity f and the shape factor of the cavities S;

• finally, q is the Tvergaard (1981) parameter.

4.1.2. Evolution equations of the internal variables

The evolution equation for the porosity, calculated from the approximate incompressibility (the elasticity being neglected) assumption of the sane matrix material, is given by

$$\dot{f} \equiv 3(1-f)\dot{\varepsilon}_m^p \tag{22}$$

with $\dot{\varepsilon}_m^p = 1/3 \text{tr} \dot{\epsilon}^p$ denoting the mean part of the plastic deformation rate $\dot{\epsilon}^p$.

The rate of the shape factor of the cavities is defined as

$$\dot{S} = \frac{3}{2}h\dot{\varepsilon}_{33}^{p'} + 3\left(\frac{1-3\alpha_1}{f} + 3\alpha_2 - 1\right)\dot{\varepsilon}_m^p \tag{23}$$

where $\dot{\mathbf{e}}^{p'}$ denotes the deviatoric part of the plastic deformation rate $\dot{\mathbf{e}}^{p}$, $\dot{\varepsilon}_{m}^{p} = \frac{1}{3} \operatorname{tr}(\dot{\mathbf{e}}^{p})$ is its mean part, and α_{1} is a parameter that is a function of the porosity f and the shape factor of the cavities S. Finally, h is a parameter which depends on the porosity f, the shape factor of the cavities, in addition to the triaxiality T defined by:

$$T = \frac{\sigma_m}{||\boldsymbol{\sigma}'||}, \quad \sigma_m = \frac{1}{3} \operatorname{tr} \boldsymbol{\sigma}.$$
(24)

The variable $\bar{\sigma}$ is given by

$$\bar{\sigma} \equiv \sigma(\bar{\epsilon}) \tag{25}$$

where $\sigma(\epsilon)$ is the function giving the yield limit as a function of the equivalent cumulated plastic strain ϵ , and $\bar{\epsilon}$ denotes the average value of this equivalent strain in the heterogeneous matrix. The evolution equation of $\bar{\epsilon}$ obeys the following law:

$$(1-f)\bar{\sigma}\dot{\bar{\epsilon}} = \boldsymbol{\sigma}: \boldsymbol{\epsilon}^p, \tag{26}$$

following an earlier suggestion of Gurson. Finally, the rate of change of the vector \mathbf{e}_3 parallel to the axis of the cavities is defined as

$$\dot{\mathbf{e}}_3 = \mathbf{\Omega} \mathbf{e}_3 \tag{27}$$

where Ω is the rotation rate of the matter (for example the skew-symmetric part of the velocity gradient).

4.1.3. Flow rule

The plastic part of the additive decomposition of the deformation, deduced from the normality property, is obtained as

$$\dot{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}}^p = \lambda \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \boldsymbol{\sigma}} \quad , \quad \lambda \ge 0 \tag{28}$$

where Φ denotes the GLP yield function (see Eq.(17)) and λ is the plastic multiplier. We shall now derive the explicit expressions of the plastic flow rule, Eq.(28). To that end, we begin by calculating the derivative

$$\frac{\partial \sigma_{eq}^{2}}{\partial \sigma_{ij}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma_{ij}} \left[\frac{3}{2} (\sigma'_{kl} + \eta \sigma_{h} X_{kl}) (\sigma'_{kl} + \eta \sigma_{h} X_{kl}) \right]$$

$$= 3 \left[\sigma'_{ij} + \eta \sigma_{h} X_{ij} + (\sigma'_{kl} + \eta \sigma_{h} X_{kl}) \eta \frac{\partial \sigma_{h}}{\partial \sigma_{ij}} X_{kl} \right]$$

$$= 3 \left[\sigma'_{ij} + \eta \sigma_{h} X_{ij} + \frac{2}{3} \eta \frac{\partial \sigma_{h}}{\partial \sigma_{ij}} \left(\frac{3}{2} \boldsymbol{\sigma}' : \mathbf{X} + \eta \sigma_{h} \right) \right]. \quad (29)$$

Assuming that the Greek indices take only the values 1 and 2 and accounting for the following relations

$$\frac{\partial \sigma_h}{\partial \sigma_{\alpha\beta}} = \alpha_2 \delta_{\alpha\beta}, \quad \frac{\partial \sigma_h}{\partial \sigma_{\alpha3}} = 0, \quad \frac{\partial \sigma_h}{\partial \sigma_{33}} = 1 - 2\alpha_2, \tag{30}$$

$$\frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \sigma_{\alpha\beta}} = \frac{3C}{\bar{\sigma}^2} \left[\sigma_{\alpha\beta}' + \eta \sigma_h X_{\alpha\beta} + \frac{2}{3} \eta (1 - 2\alpha_2) \left(\frac{3}{2} \boldsymbol{\sigma}' : \mathbf{X} + \eta \sigma_h \right) \right]
+ 2q(g+1)(g+f) \frac{K}{\bar{\sigma}} (1 - 2\alpha_2) \sinh \left(K \frac{\sigma_h}{\bar{\sigma}} \right),$$
(31)

and

$$\frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \sigma_{\alpha 3}} = \frac{C}{\bar{\sigma}^2} \sigma_{\alpha 3} \tag{32}$$

we obtain

$$\frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \sigma_{33}} = \frac{3C}{\bar{\sigma}^2} \left[\sigma'_{33} + \eta \sigma_h X_{33} + \frac{2}{3} \eta (1 - 2\alpha_2) \left(\frac{3}{2} \boldsymbol{\sigma}' : \mathbf{X} + \eta \sigma_h \right) \right] + 2q(g+1)(g+f) \frac{K}{\bar{\sigma}} \alpha_2 \sinh\left(K \frac{\sigma_h}{\bar{\sigma}} \right).$$
(33)

We can then compute the mean part of the plastic deformation rate $\dot{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}}^p$ as

$$\dot{\varepsilon}_{m}^{p} = \frac{1}{3} \left(\dot{\varepsilon}_{\alpha\alpha}^{p} + \dot{\varepsilon}_{33}^{p} \right) = \frac{\lambda}{3} \left(\frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \sigma_{\alpha\alpha}} + \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \sigma_{33}} \right)$$

$$= \frac{\lambda}{3} \left[\frac{2C\eta}{\bar{\sigma}^{2}} \left(\frac{3}{2} \boldsymbol{\sigma}' : \mathbf{X} + \eta \sigma_{h} \right) + 2q(g+1)(g+f) \frac{K}{\bar{\sigma}} \sinh\left(K \frac{\sigma_{h}}{\bar{\sigma}}\right) \right].$$
(34)

Also, combining the relations (28), (33), and (34), we get

$$\begin{cases}
\dot{\varepsilon}^{p}_{\alpha\beta} = \lambda \frac{3C}{\bar{\sigma}^{2}} \left(\sigma'_{\alpha\beta} + \eta \sigma_{h} X_{\alpha\beta} \right) + 3\alpha_{2} \delta_{\alpha\beta} \dot{\varepsilon}^{p}_{m} \\
\dot{\varepsilon}^{p}_{\alpha3} = \lambda \frac{3C}{\bar{\sigma}^{2}} \sigma_{\alpha3} \\
\dot{\varepsilon}^{p}_{33} = \lambda \frac{3C}{\bar{\sigma}^{2}} \left(\sigma'_{33} + \eta \sigma_{h} X_{33} \right) + 3(1 - 2\alpha_{2}) \dot{\varepsilon}^{p}_{m}.
\end{cases}$$
(35)

In the subsequent, let assume that

$$\dot{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}}_{d}^{p} = \dot{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}}^{p} - 3\alpha_{2}\dot{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}}_{m}^{p}\mathbf{e}_{\alpha}\otimes\mathbf{e}_{\alpha} - 3(1-\alpha_{2})\dot{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}}_{m}^{p}\mathbf{e}_{3}\otimes\mathbf{e}_{3}.$$
(36)

(Note that $\dot{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}}_d^p$ is a purely deviatoric tensor, i.e. $\mathrm{tr}\dot{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}}_d^p = 0$). Combining the relations (35) and (36) we get

$$\dot{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}}_{d}^{p} = \lambda \frac{3C}{\bar{\sigma}^{2}} (\boldsymbol{\sigma}' + \eta \sigma_{h} \mathbf{X}).$$
(37)

Thus, the tensors $\dot{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}}_d^p$ and $\boldsymbol{\sigma}' + \eta \sigma_h \mathbf{X}$ are positively collinear. It follows that

$$\dot{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}}_{d}^{p} = \frac{3}{2} \frac{\dot{\varepsilon}_{d}^{p}}{\sigma_{eq}} (\boldsymbol{\sigma}' + \eta \sigma_{h} \mathbf{X}), \tag{38}$$

with

$$\dot{\varepsilon}_d^p = \left(\frac{2}{3}\dot{\epsilon}_d^p : \dot{\epsilon}_d^p\right)^2 \tag{39}$$

 $(\dot{\varepsilon}_d^p)$ is equal to 2/3 of the von Mises norm of $\dot{\epsilon}_d^p$ and σ_{eq} is given by Eq.(21). Furthermore, we get

$$\lambda = \frac{1}{2C} \frac{\bar{\sigma}^2 \hat{\varepsilon}_d^p}{\sigma_{eq}};\tag{40}$$

adding this result to Eq.(34) yields

$$\frac{\dot{\varepsilon}_m^p}{\dot{\varepsilon}_d^p} = \frac{\eta}{3\sigma_{eq}} \left(\frac{3}{2}\boldsymbol{\sigma}': \mathbf{X} + \eta\sigma_h\right) + 2q(g+1)(g+f)\frac{K}{3C}\frac{\bar{\sigma}}{\sigma_{eq}}\sinh\left(K\frac{\sigma_h}{\bar{\sigma}}\right).$$

To summarize, the explicit equation of the flow rule is given by the relations

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}}_{d}^{p} = \frac{3}{2} \frac{\dot{\varepsilon}_{d}^{p}}{\sigma_{eq}} (\boldsymbol{\sigma}' + \eta \sigma_{h} \mathbf{X}) \\ \frac{\dot{\varepsilon}_{m}^{p}}{\varepsilon_{d}^{p}} = \frac{\eta}{3\sigma_{eq}} \left(\frac{3}{2} \boldsymbol{\sigma}' : \mathbf{X} + \eta \sigma_{h} \right) \\ + 2q(g+1)(g+f) \frac{K}{3C} \frac{\bar{\sigma}}{\sigma_{eq}} \sinh\left(K \frac{\sigma_{h}}{\bar{\sigma}}\right) \end{cases}$$
(41)

Note that in the case of a spherical cavity, $\eta = 0, C = 1, \alpha_2 = 0, g = 0$, Eq.(41)₂ reduces the relation

$$\frac{\dot{\varepsilon}_m^p}{\dot{\varepsilon}_d^p} = 2qf \frac{K}{3} \frac{\bar{\sigma}}{\sigma_{eq}} \sinh\left(K \frac{\sigma_h}{\bar{\sigma}}\right),\tag{42}$$

which corresponds to the theoretical equation of the flow rule for the Gurson model, see Gurson (1977). Remarkably, $\dot{\varepsilon}_m^p$ is non-zero in Eq.(42) since the porosity and the mean stress σ_h are generally non-zero; thus, there is a plastic volume change of the cavity, which corresponds to an increase in the porosity for $\sigma_h > 0$ or a decrease of the porosity if $\sigma_h < 0$. Hence, the model accounts very well for the growth and closure of cavities.

4.1.4. Parameterization of the yield surface

The numerical implementation of the GLD model requires solving the complex problem of projection of the elastic stress predictor onto the yield surface. One key point of the procedure of solution of the projection problem, aimed at reducing the number of unknowns, lies in a suitable parametrization of the yield locus defined by the yield function (17). This parametrization is inspired by the classical one for an ellipse and obtained by looking for the maximum possible value of the quantity $C \frac{\sigma_{eq}^2}{\bar{\sigma}^2}$ corresponding to $\sigma_h = 0$, i.e. $\cosh\left(K\frac{\sigma_h}{\bar{\sigma}}\right) = 1$. Using Eq.(17), we find τ^2 5)

$$C\frac{\bar{\sigma}_{eq}}{\bar{\sigma}^2} = (g+1)^2 + q^2(g+f)^2 - 2q(g+1)(g+f) = [g+1-q(g+f)]^2.$$
(43)

Assuming that

$$C\frac{\sigma_{eq}^2}{\bar{\sigma}^2} = [g+1-q(g+f)]^2 \cos^2(\phi),$$
(44)

we obtain

$$\sigma_{eq} = \frac{\bar{\sigma}}{\sqrt{C}} [g + 1 - q(g + f)]^2 \cos(\phi) \tag{45}$$

where ϕ represents some angle with positive cosine. Hence, Eq.(17) yields

$$2q(g+1)(g+f)\cosh\left(K\frac{\sigma_h}{\bar{\sigma}}\right)$$

= $(g+1)^2 + q^2(g+f)^2 - [g+1-q(f+g)]^2\cos^2(\phi)$
= $2q(g+1)(g+f) + [g+1-q(f+g)]^2\sin^2(\phi).$ (46)

Solving Eq.(46) for the parameter σ_h we get

$$\sigma_h = \frac{\bar{\sigma}}{K} sgn(\phi) \cosh^{-1} \left(1 + \frac{[g+1-q(g+f)]^2}{2q(g+1)(g+f)} \sin^2(\phi) \right).$$
(47)

The sign of ϕ is introduced into Eq.(47) to allow for negative as well as positive values of σ_h . Finally, the equations of the parametrization of the yield surface are given by

$$\begin{cases} \sigma_{eq} = \frac{\bar{\sigma}}{\sqrt{C}} [g+1-q(g+f)]^2 \cos(\phi) \\ \sigma_h = \frac{\bar{\sigma}}{K} sgn(\phi) \cosh^{-1} \left(1 + \frac{[g+1-q(g+f)]^2}{2q(g+1)(g+f)} \sin^2(\phi) \right) \end{cases}$$
(48)

4.1.5. Nonlocal Damage Model Based on the GLD Model

The nonlocal damage model based on the Gologanu-Leblond-Devaux (GLD) model extends the classical Gurson (1977) model by incorporating void shape evolution, which captures how voids elongate or flatten during plastic deformation, and a nonlocal treatment of damage, significantly improving the accuracy of simulations in ductile fracture, where the shape and distribution of voids play a critical role in material behavior.

4.1.6. Nonlocal Approach

In traditional local damage models, damage evolution is computed at a specific material point based on local stress and strain states. However, a nonlocal damage model introduces spatial averaging, so the damage at any point also depends on the behavior of surrounding material points. This approach resolves issues like mesh sensitivity and unrealistic localization of damage.

4.1.7. Convolution of the Evolution Equation of the Damage

The nonlocal aspect is introduced using a convolution operator, which spreads the effect of damage over a spatial domain. This convolution integrates the damage variable over neighboring points, ensuring that damage evolution considers both local and surrounding states. The mathematical representation of the convolution is given by:

$$\dot{\bar{f}}(x) = \int_{\Omega} w(x, x') \dot{f}(x') \, dx'$$

where $\dot{f}(x)$ represents the nonlocal damage at point x, $\dot{f}(x')$ is the local damage at a neighboring point x', and w(x, x') is a weighting function (or kernel) that controls how much influence neighboring points have on the damage at x.

4.1.8. Applications of the Nonlocal GLD Model

- **Ductile Fracture in Metals**: This model is particularly useful for simulating fracture in porous metals, where void nucleation, growth, and coalescence are essential mechanisms of ductile failure.
- Void Shape Effects: By incorporating the shape effects of voids, the model enhances the prediction of material strength and fracture patterns under complex loading conditions.

• Mesh Regularization: The nonlocal formulation helps avoid mesh dependence and instability in finite element simulations, providing more reliable results in engineering applications.

4.1.9. Mathematical Formulation

The nonlocal GLD model replaces the local damage variable with a nonlocal one, introducing spatial averaging via the convolution operation. The mathematical form of the nonlocal damage variable is given by:

$$\dot{\bar{f}}(x) = \int_{\Omega} w(x, x') \dot{f}(x') \, dx'$$

where:

- $\dot{f}(x)$ is the nonlocal damage at point x,
- $\dot{f}(x')$ is the local damage at a neighboring point x',
- w(x, x') is a weighting function that defines the influence of damage at point x' on point x,
- Ω is the domain over which the convolution is computed.

The kernel function w(x, x') is chosen based on the material's characteristic length scale and plays a crucial role in controlling the spatial distribution of damage.

4.2. The GLD model and the class of generalized standard materials

In this section, we aim to examine the generalized standard nature of the GLP model under the assumption of small deformations. It should be noted that the formalism of generalized standard materials only applies under this assumption.

The examination demonstrates that, at a fixed porosity, the constitutive equations of the GLD model possess the required properties to ensure the model's classification within the GSM class.

In the following section, we will explore the implications of this property concerning the numerical implementation of the model.

It is important to immediately note that this property applies equally to both the original local version of the model and its non-local modified version presented in Section 4, as fixing the porosity disregards its evolution equation, which is the only differing point between the two versions.

The presentation begins with a very brief general overview of some aspects of the work by Halphen and Nguyen (1975), and Son (1977) on the Generalized Strain Gradient (GSM). It continues by providing a simple example of MSG before delving into the main result of this section: the generalized standard nature of the GLP model when the porosity, the orientation, and the shape factor components in the model are assumed to be discretized with an explicit numerical scheme.

To begin with, it is necessary to define the state variables and the expression for the free energy, and then ensure that the latter satisfies the required properties (see Appendix A).

The state of the material is described by the following state variables: the components of total deformation ε and a set of internal variables including the components of plastic deformation ε^p and the cumulative equivalent plastic deformation.

We then propose the following free energy potential, which is the sum of elastic deformation energy and "locked" hardening energy:

$$\psi(\varepsilon,\varepsilon^p,\varepsilon_{eq}) = \frac{1}{2}(\varepsilon-\varepsilon^p): \mathbf{C}: (\varepsilon-\varepsilon^p) + \lambda \int_0^{\varepsilon_{eq}} \sigma(\varepsilon) \mathrm{d}\varepsilon.$$
(49)

In this equation, **C** represents the fourth-order elastic stiffness tensor, and $\sigma(\varepsilon_{eq})$ is the yield stress in simple tension, a function of cumulative plastic deformation.

It is easy to see, with this definition, that the free energy ψ is *strictly* convex with respect to the internal variable ε , as the quadratic form defined by **C** is positive definite. The free energy is also strictly convex with respect to ε^p for the same reason as mentioned earlier. It is also strictly convex with respect to the variable ε_{eq} due to the positivity of the hardening slope. Furthermore, it is a sum of strictly convex functions of ε^p and ε_{eq} (with ε fixed). Therefore, the free energy is strictly convex with respect to the global internal variable ($\varepsilon^p, \varepsilon_{eq}$), as desired.

Moreover, the derivative of ψ with respect to ε is equal to σ , as desired as well, and the thermodynamic forces $\mathbf{F}^{\varepsilon^p}$ and $F^{\varepsilon_{eq}}$ associated with the internal variables ε^p and ε_{eq} are given by:

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{F}^{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}} = -\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}} = \mathbf{C} : (\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}) = \mathbf{s} \\ F^{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{eq}} = -\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{eq}} = -\sigma(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{eq}) \equiv \sigma \end{cases}$$
(50)

The second thing to do is to demonstrate that the reversibility domain defined by GLD criterion in the space of thermodynamic forces (expressing GLD's charge function Φ in terms of the variables $\mathbf{F}^{\varepsilon^p}$ and $F^{\overline{\epsilon}}$ instead of $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ and $\bar{\sigma}$) is convex.

The transformation from the variables $(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \bar{\sigma})$ to the variables $(\mathbf{F}^{\varepsilon^{p}}, F^{\bar{\epsilon}}) = (\boldsymbol{\sigma}, -\lambda\bar{\sigma})$ is, however, linear. Therefore, it will be sufficient to prove that the reversibility domain in the space of the first variables,

$$\mathcal{C} \equiv (\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \bar{\sigma}); \quad \Phi(\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \bar{\sigma}, S, f) \leq 0,$$

is convex.

This would result immediately from the convexity of GLD's charge function Φ with respect to the global internal variable (σ , $\bar{\sigma}$), if this function were convex. The second element consists of checking that the evolution equations of the internal variables ε^p and $\overline{\epsilon}$ comply with the generalized normality property with respect to the GLD's yield function, expressed in terms of thermodynamic forces:

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\varepsilon}^{p} = \eta \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \mathbf{F}^{\varepsilon^{\mathbf{p}}}} \equiv \eta \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \sigma} \\ \dot{\bar{\epsilon}} = \eta \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial F^{\bar{\varepsilon}}} \equiv -\frac{\eta}{\lambda} \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \bar{\sigma}} \end{cases}$$
(51)

The two previous elements of this proof were extensively discussed in Enakoutsa et al. (2007) in the context of the Gurson (1977) 's model, and for this reason will not be repeated here.

All the necessary conditions for the GLD model with fixed porosity and the shape factor of the cavities to define a generalized standard material are thus satisfied.

The essential point here is that the evolution equation of the hardening parameter $\bar{\epsilon}$ is such that the internal variables ε^p and $\bar{\epsilon}$ collectively satisfy a certain normality law. This property does not appear to be extendable to the case where the evolution of porosity and the shape factor of the cavities are taken into account, because the right-hand sides of these equations bear no relation to the derivative of the criterion with respect to the porosity and the shape factor of the cavity.

4.3. Implications in terms of numerical implementation of the GLD model4.3.1. Numerical AlgorithmProjection onto the yield surface

The key challenge in the numerical implementation of an elastoplastic model lies in accurately projecting onto the yield surface. Specifically, the task is as follows: given the outcome of a "large elastoplastic iteration" (where elastic deformation is solved over the entire structure, considering initial plastic strains), which yields the total strain increment $\nabla \dot{\varepsilon}$ over the time step from t to $t + \nabla t$, we must determine the decomposition of $\dot{\varepsilon}$ into its elastic $\dot{\varepsilon}^e$ and plastic $\dot{\varepsilon}^p$ components. This decomposition must satisfy the yield criterion at $t + \nabla t$ and the flow rule governing plastic behavior during the time step, ultimately leading to the updated stress at $t + \nabla t$.

In the following, quantities without indices refer to their values at time $t + \Delta t$, while those with the subscript '0' correspond to their values at time t (representing known quantities).

Let us begin by defining a parametrization of the original Gurson criterion using an angle ϕ , following the approach of the original model. This ensures automatic satisfaction of the criterion. The flow rules will then provide an equation for ϕ , which can be solved numerically.

To find this parametrization, let us look for the maximum value of $C \frac{\sigma_{eq}^2}{\overline{\sigma}^2}$ corresponding to $\sigma_h = 0 \implies \cosh\left(K\frac{\sigma_h}{\overline{\sigma}}\right) = 1$; according to Eq. (17) $C \frac{\sigma_{eq}^2}{\overline{\sigma}^2} = (g+1)^2 + q^2(g+f)^2 - 2q(g+1)(g+f) = [g+1-q(g+f)]^2.$

It is therefore natural to assume that

$$C\frac{\sigma_{eq}^2}{\overline{\sigma}^2} = [g+1-q(g+f)]^2 cos^2 \varphi$$

$$\Rightarrow \sigma_{eq} = \frac{\overline{\sigma}}{\sqrt{C}} [g+1-q(g+f)] cos\varphi$$
(52)

where φ is some angle with positive cosine. We get from Eq.(17)

$$\begin{aligned} 2q(g+1)(g+f)\cosh\left(K\frac{\sigma_h}{\overline{\sigma}}\right) &= (g+1)^2 + q^2(g+f)^2 - [g+1-q(g+f)]^2 cos^2\varphi\\ &= (g+1)^2 + q^2(g+f)^2 - [g+1-q(g+f)]^2\\ &+ [g+1-q(g+f)]^2 sin^2\varphi\\ &= 2q(g+1)(g+f) + [g+1-q(g+f)]^2 sin^2\varphi\end{aligned}$$

$$\Rightarrow \cosh\left(K\frac{\sigma_h}{\overline{\sigma}}\right) = 1 + \frac{[g+1-q(g+f)]^2}{2q(g+1)(g+f)}sin^2\varphi$$
$$\Rightarrow \sigma_h = \frac{\overline{\sigma}}{K}sgn(\varphi)cosh^{-1}\left(1 + \frac{[g+1-q(g+f)]^2}{2q(g+1)(g+f)}sin^2\varphi\right)$$
(53)

We introduce $\operatorname{sgn}(\phi)$ (the sign of ϕ) to ensure that σ_h can assume both positive and negative values. Equations (52) and (53) provide the parametrization for the criterion we seek. The angle ϕ is considered within the interval $\left[-\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2}\right]$, which allows $\cos(\phi)$ to cover all positive values or zero, and $\operatorname{sgn}(\phi)$ to assume values of ± 1 . Before expressing the flow rule in its discretized form, we first need to establish the relationships between σ_h and σ_m , and between $\dot{\varepsilon}_d^p$ and $\dot{\varepsilon}^{p'}$ as:

$$\sigma_{h} = \alpha_{2}\sigma_{\alpha\alpha} + (1 - 2\alpha_{2})\sigma_{33} = \frac{1}{3}(\sigma_{\alpha\alpha} + \sigma_{33}) + \left(\alpha_{2} - \frac{1}{3}\right)\sigma_{\alpha\alpha} + 2\left(\frac{1}{3} - \alpha_{2}\right)\sigma_{33}$$
$$= \sigma_{m} + (1 - 3\alpha_{2})\left(-\frac{1}{3}\sigma_{\alpha\alpha} + \frac{2}{3}\sigma_{33}\right)$$

which gives, from the definition Eq. (18) of the tensor X:

$$\sigma_h = \sigma_m + (1 - 3\alpha_2)\boldsymbol{\sigma}' : \boldsymbol{X}. \tag{54}$$

In addition, from Eq. (36),

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}}_{d}^{p} &= \dot{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}}^{p} - 3\alpha_{2}\dot{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}}_{m}^{p}\hat{\boldsymbol{e}}_{\alpha}\otimes\hat{\boldsymbol{e}}_{\alpha} - 3(1-2\alpha_{2})\dot{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}}_{m}^{p}\hat{\boldsymbol{e}}_{3}\otimes\hat{\boldsymbol{e}}_{3} \\ &= \dot{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}}^{p} - \dot{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}}_{m}^{p}\hat{\boldsymbol{e}}_{\alpha}\otimes\hat{\boldsymbol{e}}_{\alpha} - \dot{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}}_{m}^{p}\hat{\boldsymbol{e}}_{3}\otimes\hat{\boldsymbol{e}}_{3} + (1-2\alpha_{2})\dot{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}}_{m}^{p}\hat{\boldsymbol{e}}_{\alpha}\otimes\hat{\boldsymbol{e}}_{\alpha} + 2(3\alpha_{2}-1)\dot{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}}_{m}^{p}\hat{\boldsymbol{e}}_{3}\otimes\hat{\boldsymbol{e}}_{3} \\ &= \dot{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}}^{p} - 3(1-3\alpha_{2})\dot{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}}_{m}^{p}\boldsymbol{X}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(55)$$

Let us now write the flow rule in discretized form. $\Delta \varepsilon_d^p$ being related to $\Delta \varepsilon^{p'}$ par the relationship

$$\Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{d}^{p} = \Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p'} - 3(1 - 3\alpha_{2})\Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{m}^{p} \boldsymbol{X}$$
(56)

(which is the discretized equivalent form of Eq.(55), we get:

$$\Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{d}^{p} = \frac{3}{2} \frac{\Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{d}^{p}}{\sigma_{eq}} \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma}' + \eta \sigma_{h} \boldsymbol{X} \right)$$
(57)

where

$$\Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{d}^{p} = \left(\frac{3}{2}\Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{d}^{p} : \Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{d}^{p}\right)^{1/2}.$$
(58)

Note that these equations correspond to an implicit algorithm with respect to all parameters except the porosity f. The symbol \tilde{f} represents an explicit approximation of porosity on the half-interval $t + \frac{\Delta t}{2}$ given by

$$\frac{\Delta \varepsilon_m^p}{\Delta \varepsilon_d^p} = \frac{\eta}{3\sigma_{eq}} \left(\frac{3}{2} \boldsymbol{\sigma}' : \boldsymbol{X} + \eta \sigma_h \right) + q(g+1)(g+\tilde{f}) \frac{K}{3C} \frac{\overline{\sigma}}{\sigma_{eq}} \sinh\left(K \frac{\sigma_h}{\overline{\sigma}}\right).$$
(59)

The explicit character of the algorithm with respect to f (parameter governing softening) ensures its convergence, taking \tilde{f} at $t + \frac{\Delta t}{2}$, and not at tor $t + \Delta t$, allowing us to optimize the precision of the algorithm:

$$\tilde{f} = f_0 + \dot{f}_0 \frac{\Delta t}{2}.$$
 (60)

Assume σ'_o and σ^{\star}_m the deviatoric and the mean parts of the stresses tensor (at $t + \Delta t$) σ^{\star} "elastically calculated," that is by assuming that the increment of deformation $\Delta \varepsilon$ is purely elastic; we get

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{*'} = \boldsymbol{\sigma}_o' + 2\mu\Delta\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}' \quad \text{and} \quad \boldsymbol{\sigma}_m = \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{m_o} + (3\lambda + 2\mu)\,\Delta\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_m. \tag{61}$$

 $\pmb{\sigma}_o'$ and σ_m^{\star} are the known quantities during the operation of the "projection on the yield surface." Now let us evaluate $\pmb{\sigma}'$ using Eqs.(61), Eqs.(56), Eq.(57))

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}' = \boldsymbol{\sigma}'_{o} + 2\mu\Delta\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{e'} = \boldsymbol{\sigma}'_{o} + 2\mu\Delta\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}' - 2\mu\Delta\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p'} = \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{*'} - 2\mu\Delta\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p'}$$
$$= \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{*'} - 2\mu\Delta\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}_{d} - 6\mu(1 - 3\alpha_{2})\Delta\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}_{m}\boldsymbol{X}$$
$$= \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{*'} - 3\mu\frac{\Delta\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}_{d}}{\sigma_{eq}}\left(\boldsymbol{\sigma}' + \eta\sigma_{h}\boldsymbol{X}\right) - 6\mu(1 - 3\alpha_{2})\Delta\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}_{m}\boldsymbol{X}.$$
(62)

Contracting this equation with the tensor $\frac{3}{2}\boldsymbol{X}$ using Eq.(59)

$$k = q(g+1)(g+\tilde{f})\frac{K}{3C}\overline{\sigma}sinh\left(K\frac{\sigma_h}{\overline{\sigma}}\right);$$
(63)

we get

$$\frac{3}{2}\boldsymbol{\sigma}': \boldsymbol{X} = \frac{3}{2}\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{*'}: \boldsymbol{X} - 3\mu \frac{\Delta \varepsilon_d^p}{\sigma_{eq}} \left(\frac{3}{2}\boldsymbol{\sigma}': \boldsymbol{X} + \eta \sigma_h\right) \\ -6\mu(1 - 3\alpha_2) \left[\frac{\eta}{3\sigma_{eq}} \left(\frac{3}{2}\boldsymbol{\sigma}': \boldsymbol{X} + \eta \sigma_h\right) + \frac{k}{\sigma_{eq}}\right] \Delta \varepsilon_d^p$$

thus, adding $\eta\sigma_h$ to the two sides of the equations, we get:

$$\frac{3}{2}\boldsymbol{\sigma}': \boldsymbol{X} + \eta \sigma_h = \frac{3}{2}\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{*'}: \boldsymbol{X} + \eta \sigma_h - 3\mu \frac{\Delta \varepsilon_d^p}{\sigma_{eq}} \left(\frac{3}{2}\boldsymbol{\sigma}': \boldsymbol{X} + \eta \sigma_h\right) \\ - 2\mu \frac{\eta}{\sigma_{eq}} (1 - 3\alpha_2) \left(\frac{3}{2}\boldsymbol{\sigma}': \boldsymbol{X} + \eta \sigma_h\right) \Delta \varepsilon_d^p - 6\mu (1 - 3\alpha_2) \frac{k}{\sigma_{eq}} \Delta \varepsilon_d^p$$

$$\Rightarrow \left[1 + 3\mu \frac{\Delta \varepsilon_d^p}{\sigma_{eq}} + 2\mu\eta (1 - 3\alpha_2) \frac{\Delta \varepsilon_d^p}{\sigma_{eq}}\right] \left(\frac{3}{2}\boldsymbol{\sigma}' : \boldsymbol{X} + \eta\sigma_h\right)$$
$$= \frac{3}{2}\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{*'} : \boldsymbol{X} + \eta\sigma_h - 6\mu k(1 - 3\alpha_2) \frac{\Delta \varepsilon_d^p}{\sigma_{eq}}$$

$$\Rightarrow \frac{3}{2}\boldsymbol{\sigma}': \boldsymbol{X} + \eta \sigma_h = \frac{a\Delta \varepsilon_d^p + b}{c\Delta \varepsilon_d^p + d}$$
(64)

where

$$a = -6\mu k(1 - 3\alpha_2) \quad ; \quad b = \left(\frac{3}{2}\boldsymbol{\sigma^{*'}} : \boldsymbol{X} + \eta\sigma_h\right)\sigma_{eq} ;$$

$$c = 3\mu + 2\mu\eta(1 - 3\alpha_2) \quad ; \quad d = \sigma_{eq}.$$
(65)

Let's go back now to Eq.(62) by adding $\eta\sigma_h {\pmb X}$ to the two sides of the equations; we obtain

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}' + \eta \sigma_h \boldsymbol{X} = \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{*'} + \eta \sigma_h \boldsymbol{X} - 3\mu \frac{\Delta \varepsilon_d^p}{\sigma_{eq}} \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma}' + \eta \sigma_h \boldsymbol{X} \right) - 6\mu (1 - 3\alpha_2) \Delta \varepsilon_m^p \boldsymbol{X}$$

$$\Rightarrow \left(1 + 3\mu \frac{\Delta \varepsilon_d^p}{\sigma_{eq}} \right) \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma}' + \eta \sigma_h \boldsymbol{X} \right) = \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{*'} + \eta \sigma_h \boldsymbol{X} - 6\mu (1 - 3\alpha_2) \Delta \varepsilon_m^p \boldsymbol{X}.$$

In addition, by Eq.(62) we have

$$\sigma_m = \sigma_{mo} + (3\lambda + 2\mu) \Delta \varepsilon_m^e = \sigma_m^* - (3\lambda + 2\mu) \Delta \varepsilon_m^p$$

$$\Rightarrow \Delta \varepsilon_m^p = \frac{\sigma_m^* - \sigma_m}{3\lambda + 2\mu},$$
(66)

thus, by reporting in the previous equation, we get

$$\left(1 + 3\mu \frac{\Delta \varepsilon_d^p}{\sigma_{eq}}\right) \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma}' + \eta \sigma_h \boldsymbol{X}\right) =$$

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{*'} + \eta \sigma_h \boldsymbol{X} - \frac{6\mu}{3\lambda + 2\mu} (1 - 3\alpha_2) (\sigma_m^* - \sigma_m) \boldsymbol{X}.$$
(67)

Taking the von Mises norm |||| of the two sides of the equation, we get

$$\sigma_{eq} + 3\mu\Delta\varepsilon_d^p = \left\|\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{*\prime} + \eta\sigma_h\boldsymbol{X} - \frac{6\mu}{3\lambda + 2\mu}(1 - 3\alpha_2)(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_m^* - \boldsymbol{\sigma}_m)\boldsymbol{X}\right\|$$
$$\Rightarrow \Delta\varepsilon_d^p = \frac{1}{3\mu} \left(\left\|\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{*\prime} + \eta\sigma_h\boldsymbol{X} - \frac{6\mu}{3\lambda + 2\mu}(1 - 3\alpha_2)(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_m^* - \boldsymbol{\sigma}_m)\boldsymbol{X}\right\| - \sigma_{eq} \right)$$
(68)

Finally, using the flow rule Eq.(59) together with Eqs.(63, 64, 66) we obtain

$$\Delta \varepsilon_m^p = \frac{\sigma_m^* - \sigma_m}{3\lambda + 2\mu} = \left(\frac{\eta}{3\sigma_{eq}} \frac{a\Delta \varepsilon_d^p + b}{c\Delta \varepsilon_d^p + d} + \frac{k}{\sigma_{eq}}\right) \Delta \varepsilon_d^p$$

$$\Rightarrow \frac{\sigma_m^* - \sigma_m}{3\lambda + 2\mu} \sigma_{eq} - \left(\frac{\eta}{3} \frac{a\Delta \varepsilon_d^p + b}{c\Delta \varepsilon_d^p + d} + k\right) \Delta \varepsilon_d^p = 0.$$
(69)

Let us observe that $\Delta \varepsilon_d^p$ can be expressed as a function of ϕ and $\frac{3}{2}\sigma' : \mathbf{X}$ thanks to Eq.(68), considering Eqs.(52, 53, 54). Thus, we can choose ϕ and $\frac{3}{2}\sigma' : \mathbf{X}$ as principal unknowns. These equations satisfy Eqs.(64, 69) where the coefficients a, b, c, d are given by Eq.(65) (k itself being given by Eq.(63)).

These equations can be solved numerically by Newton's method: the quantity $\frac{3}{2}\boldsymbol{\sigma}': \boldsymbol{X}$ can be evaluated by solving Eq.(64), ϕ being calculated at each Newton's iteration on $\frac{3}{2}\boldsymbol{\sigma}': \boldsymbol{X}$ by solving Eq.(69) by Newton iteration on ϕ . Once ϕ and $\frac{3}{2}\boldsymbol{\sigma}': \boldsymbol{X}$ are determined, we deduced σ_{eq} , σ_h , and σ_m by Eqs.(52, 53, 54), and $\Delta \varepsilon_m^p$ and $\Delta \varepsilon_d^p$ by Eqs.(66, 68), $\boldsymbol{\sigma}' + \eta \sigma_h \boldsymbol{X}$ (and hence $\boldsymbol{\sigma}'$) by Eq.(67), $\Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_m^p$ by Eq.(57) and $\Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{e'}^{p'}$ by Eq.(56). Thus, the operation of projection onto the yield locus has been carried out.

Evolution equations for the internal parameters

The first internal parameter we consider is the porosity f. Using an implicit algorithm for this parameter leads to significant convergence difficulties that are often challenging to resolve. Consequently, we employ an explicit algorithm in which f—as shown in equations (52) and (53)—does not represent the actual porosity value at time $t + \Delta t$. Instead, it approximates the porosity based on the previous time step:

$$f = f_o + f_o \Delta t \tag{70}$$

(f is therefore fixed throughout the passage from the instant t to instant $t + \Delta t$).

Of course, after convergence of the large elastic plastic iterations from t to $t + \Delta t$, f is updated for the next step thanks to the following formula, discretized equivalent of Eq.(22)

$$f(t + \Delta t) = 3\left(1 - \tilde{f}\right)\Delta\varepsilon_m^p.$$
(71)

The (approximate) value \tilde{f} of the porosity in the half-interval (see Eq.(60)) is used here in order to improve the accuracy of the algorithm.

The second internal parameter is the shape factor S, also unknown "a priori". To determine it, we adopt an iterative algorithm of a "fixed point" type. The law of evolution of this parameter is the discretized equivalent of Eq.(23)

$$\Delta S = \frac{3}{2}h\Delta\varepsilon_{33}^{p'} + 3\left(\frac{1-3\alpha_1}{f} + 3\alpha_2 - 1\right)\Delta\varepsilon_m^p.$$
(72)

We recall that *h* is an independent parameter, besides *f* and *S*, of the triaxiality *T* defined by Eq.(24). It is therefore necessary to calculate, in addition to σ_m as we saw above, $\|\boldsymbol{\sigma}'\|$, a quantity which, we recall, is not equal to $\sigma_{eq} = \left(\|\boldsymbol{\sigma}' + \eta \sigma_h \boldsymbol{X}\| \right)$. By definition of the von Mises norm $\|\|$ defined by $\sigma_{eq}^2 = \|\boldsymbol{\sigma}' + \eta \sigma_h \boldsymbol{X}\|^2 = \frac{3}{2} \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma}' + \eta \sigma_h \boldsymbol{X}\right) : \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma}' + \eta \sigma_h \boldsymbol{X}\right)$ $= \frac{3}{2} \boldsymbol{\sigma}' : \boldsymbol{\sigma}' + 3\eta \sigma_h \boldsymbol{\sigma}' : \boldsymbol{X} + \eta^2 + \sigma_h^2 = \|\boldsymbol{\sigma}'\|^2 + 2\eta \sigma_h \left(\frac{3}{2} \boldsymbol{\sigma}' : \boldsymbol{X} + \eta \sigma_h\right) - \eta^2 \sigma_h^2$

$$\Rightarrow \left\|\boldsymbol{\sigma}'\right\| = \left[\sigma_{eq}^2 - 2\eta\sigma_h\left(\frac{3}{2}\boldsymbol{\sigma}':\boldsymbol{X} + \eta\sigma_h\right) + \eta^2\sigma_h^2\right]^{1/2}.$$
(73)

This equation allows to evaluate $\|\boldsymbol{\sigma}'\|$ and therefore the triaxiality T, the quantities σ_{eq} , σ_h , $\frac{3}{2}\boldsymbol{\sigma}': \boldsymbol{X} + \eta\sigma_h$ being known elsewhere.

The third internal parameter is the hardening parameter $\overline{\sigma}$, or what amounts to the same via Eq.(26), the mean equivalent deformation $\overline{\varepsilon}$. We use a fixed point algorithm to calculate this parameter, as for the shape form factor. The law of evolution used, the discretized equivalent of Eq.(26), is

$$\left(1-\tilde{f}\right)\overline{\sigma}\Delta\overline{\varepsilon} = \boldsymbol{\sigma}:\Delta\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}.$$
(74)

Its use requires the calculation of $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$: $\Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^p$ according to known quantities. We get, from Eqs.(54, 56) and Eq.(57),

$$\begin{aligned} \boldsymbol{\sigma} : \Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p} &= \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma}' + \sigma_{m} \mathbf{1}\right) : \left(\Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p'} + \Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}_{m} \mathbf{1}\right) = \boldsymbol{\sigma}' : \Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p'} + 3\sigma_{m} \Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}_{m} \\ &= \boldsymbol{\sigma}' : \left(\Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}_{d} + 3(1 - 3\alpha_{2})\Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}_{m} \mathbf{X}\right) + 3\left(\sigma_{h} - (1 - 3\alpha_{2})\boldsymbol{\sigma}' : \mathbf{X}\right)\Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}_{m} \\ &= \boldsymbol{\sigma}' : \Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}_{d} + 3\sigma_{h} \Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}_{m} \\ &= \boldsymbol{\sigma}' : \frac{3}{2} \frac{\Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}_{d}}{\sigma_{eq}} \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma}' + \eta \sigma_{h} \mathbf{X}\right) + 3\sigma_{h} \Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}_{m} \\ &= \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma}' + \eta \sigma_{h} \mathbf{X}\right) : \frac{3}{2} \frac{\Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}_{d}}{\sigma_{eq}} \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma}' + \eta \sigma_{h} \mathbf{X}\right) - \frac{3}{2} \frac{\Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}_{d}}{\sigma_{eq}} \eta \sigma_{h} \mathbf{X} : \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma}' + \eta \sigma_{h} \mathbf{X}\right) + 3\sigma_{h} \Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}_{m} \\ &= \sigma_{eq} \Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}_{d} + 3\sigma_{h} \Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}_{m} - \eta \frac{\sigma_{h}}{\sigma_{eq}} \left(\frac{3}{2} \boldsymbol{\sigma}' : \mathbf{X} + \eta \sigma_{h}\right) \Delta \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{p}_{d} \end{aligned}$$

thus, the evolution equation of Eq.(74) of $\overline{\varepsilon}$ can be written as

$$\Delta \overline{\varepsilon} = \frac{1}{\left(1 - \widetilde{f}\right)\overline{\sigma}} \left[\sigma_{eq} \Delta \varepsilon_d^p + 3\sigma_h \Delta \varepsilon_m^p - \eta \frac{\sigma_h}{\sigma_{eq}} \left(\frac{3}{2}\boldsymbol{\sigma}' : \boldsymbol{X} + \eta \sigma_h\right) \Delta \varepsilon_d^p \right]$$
(75)

where all the quantities on the right side of the equation are known quantities. The fourth internal parameter is the vector e_3 parallel to the void axis. Its law of evolution Eq.(27) is discretized in an explicit way following the expression:

$$\Delta \boldsymbol{e}_3 = \Delta \boldsymbol{\Omega} \cdot \left(\boldsymbol{e}_3 \right)_o \tag{76}$$

where Δe designates the rotation increment of the manner, equals for example to the anti-symmetric part of the gradient of the displacement increment. $(e_3)_o$ designating the vector e_3 at the explicitly known instant t; therefore we can perform the correction of this vector given by Eq.(76) prior to any other calculation, without having to perform iterations.

5. Discretization of the Convolution Integral of the Evolution Equation of the Damage

In this section, we describe the numerical implementation of the convolution integral used in the nonlocal damage model based on the Gologanu-Leblond-Devaux (GLD) model. The inclusion of nonlocal effects ensures that damage evolution is influenced by the surrounding material, thus preventing mesh dependency and enhancing the accuracy of ductile fracture simulations. The core of the nonlocal formulation is the convolution integral, which we discretize and implement in a finite element code. Below, we outline the key steps involved in this numerical procedure.

5.1. Governing Convolution Equation

In the nonlocal damage model, the nonlocal damage variable $\dot{f}(x)$ at a point x is computed as a spatial average of the local damage field $\dot{f}(x')$ over a certain neighborhood of x, defined by the characteristic length scale l. The convolution integral is given by:

$$\dot{\bar{f}}(x) = \int_{\Omega} w(x, x') \dot{f}(x') \, dx' \tag{77}$$

where w(x, x') is a weighting function that controls the influence of neighboring points x' on the damage at x. The function w(x, x') typically decays with distance, ensuring that points far away from x have less influence on $\dot{f}(x)$.

5.2. Discretization of the Convolution Integral

To implement this convolution in a finite element framework, we discretize the integral over the finite element mesh. Given that the domain Ω is divided into elements, the convolution at a point x_i (which can represent a node or integration point) is approximated as:

$$\dot{\bar{f}}(x_i) \approx \sum_{j=1}^n w(x_i, x_j) \dot{f}(x_j) V_j \tag{78}$$

where $\dot{f}(x_j)$ is the local damage at point x_j , $w(x_i, x_j)$ is the weighting function between points x_i and x_j , and V_j is the volume (or area in 2D) associated with point x_j . This summation involves contributions from neighboring points that lie within the interaction range defined by the characteristic length l.

5.3. Choice of Weighting Function

The choice of the weighting function $w(x_i, x_j)$ plays a crucial role in capturing the nonlocal effects. For this implementation, we select a Gaussian kernel, which provides a smooth decay of influence with distance:

$$w(x_i, x_j) = \exp\left(-\frac{|x_i - x_j|^2}{l^2}\right)$$
(79)

This kernel ensures that points closer to x_i have a stronger influence on the damage at x_i , while distant points contribute less. The characteristic length l controls the extent of the neighborhood over which the convolution operates, and it is chosen based on material properties or experimental data.

5.4. Efficient Neighbor Search

In the finite element mesh, computing the convolution at every node requires identifying neighboring nodes within the characteristic length l. To optimize this process, we employ a nearest neighbor search algorithm, such as a k-d tree, to efficiently locate the neighboring points for each node. This reduces the computational cost by avoiding the need to evaluate the convolution over the entire mesh.

5.5. Quadrature for Finite Elements

To achieve higher accuracy in the finite element method, we use Gauss integration points within each element to compute the convolution. For each integration point x_i , we calculate the nonlocal damage $\bar{f}(x_i)$ by summing contributions from neighboring elements:

$$\dot{\bar{f}}(x_i) \approx \sum_{\text{elements Gauss points}} w(x_i, x_j) \dot{f}(x_j) W_j$$
 (80)

where W_j is the quadrature weight associated with point x_j . This approach ensures that the convolution is accurately captured across the domain, even in regions with complex geometries or irregular element shapes.

5.6. Handling Boundary Conditions

Special care must be taken when implementing the convolution near the domain boundaries, as points near the boundary may not have sufficient neighboring points within the interaction radius l. To address this, we adopt a reflection technique, whereby points near the boundary are "mirrored" across the boundary to provide additional neighbors. Alternatively, the weighting function can be modified near the boundaries to account for the missing contributions from outside the domain.

5.7. Algorithm for the Numerical Convolution

The overall algorithm for the numerical implementation of the convolution can be summarized as follows:

• Preprocessing:

- Build the finite element mesh.
- For each node or integration point x_i , identify neighboring points x_j within the interaction range using a nearest neighbor search algorithm.

• At Each Time Step:

- For each node or integration point x_i , compute the local damage $f(x_i)$ using the damage evolution law.
- Compute the nonlocal damage $\bar{f}(x_i)$ using the discretized convolution:

$$\dot{\bar{f}}(x_i) = \sum_j w(x_i, x_j) \dot{f}(x_j) V_j \tag{81}$$

- Update the material stiffness matrix and force vector to account for the effects of nonlocal damage.
- Solve the Global System: Use a nonlinear solver, such as the Newton-Raphson method, to solve the global system of equations for displacements and other unknowns.

5.8. Computational Considerations and Parallelization

The convolution operation, particularly for large-scale problems, can be computationally expensive due to the summation over neighboring nodes. To improve efficiency, we leverage parallel computing techniques such as OpenMP or MPI, which allows for concurrent evaluation of the convolution at multiple points. Additionally, sparse convolution techniques are employed to limit the range of interactions to only those points within the characteristic length l, further reducing the computational burden.

The numerical implementation of the convolution integral for the nonlocal damage model enhances the predictive capabilities of ductile fracture simulations by accounting for the spatial distribution of damage. By discretizing the convolution, selecting an appropriate weighting function, and employing efficient neighbor search and parallelization techniques, we achieve a robust and scalable implementation that can be integrated into existing finite element codes. This formulation helps mitigate mesh dependency and provides more accurate results, especially in the context of complex loading conditions and material behavior.

5.9. Advantages of using the GSM framework

Generalized Standard Materials, as formulated by Halphen and Nguyen (1975), and Son (1977) in the context of infinitesimal strain theory, constitute a broad class of elastic-plastic solids. In these materials, both the plastic strain tensor and the set of internal state variables evolve according to an "extended normality rule," a generalization of the classical normality condition in plasticity. This class is remarkable for several key reasons. One of the most significant results, demonstrated by Halphen and Nguyen (1975), is that for the GSM, the local elastoplastic update problem at a material point—spanning a time increment $[t, t + \Delta t]v$ can be recast as a minimization problem involving a strictly convex potential. This holds provided the flow rule is discretized using an implicit time integration scheme, typically the backward Euler method. In this formulation, the unknown stress tensor and internal variables at time $t + \Delta t$ are determined implicitly, rather than relying on their known values at time t. The strict convexity of the objective functional guarantees the well-posedness of the minimization problem, ensuring both existence and uniqueness of the solution at the integration point, which is critical for ensuring the stability and robustness of the numerical algorithm in solving the local return-mapping equation.

It must be rigorously underscored that, although the convexity of the local projection problem ensures existence and uniqueness at the level of a single integration point, this property is restricted to the return-mapping algorithm and addresses only a discretized aspect of the global boundaryvalue problem (BVP). Specifically, this result does not extend to the global solution of the BVP, where issues of the existence and uniqueness remain fundamentally unresolved, particularly in the presence of material softening. Softening models, such as those investigated in the present study, induce strain localization phenomena that are intrinsically linked to a loss of ellipticity in the underlying system of partial differential equations. This breakdown in ellipticity typically manifests as ill-posedness of the global BVP, leading to non-existence or non-uniqueness of the solution, as well as pathological mesh sensitivity in numerical simulations. Consequently, the mathematical guarantees derived from the local projection problem are insufficient to ensure the well-posedness of the global problem, where additional factors such as regularization techniques or nonlocal formulations may be required to mitigate these effects.

Enakoutsa et al. (2007); Enakoutsa (2007) rigorously established that Gurson (1977) model can be embedded within the class of Generalized Standard Materials (GSM), contingent upon two specific conditions: (i) the analysis is carried out within the linearized regime, corresponding to the assumption of small strains and small displacements, and (ii) the internal state variables are limited to the plastic strain tensor components, ε^p , and the isotropic hardening variable associated with the sound matrix material, $\overline{\epsilon}$. In this formulation, the porosity f, although typically treated as an evolving internal variable in Gurson-type models, is artificially constrained to be a fixed parameter, effectively reducing the dimensionality of the internal state space. This formal classification relies on the verification of three key structural properties intrinsic to the Gurson model:

- The representation of strain hardening effects through a single scalar parameter, $\bar{\sigma}$, provides a significant simplification in the constitutive modeling of material behavior. In this framework, the yield criterion can be expressed as a convex yield function $f(\sigma/\bar{\sigma})$, where σ denotes the Cauchy stress tensor. This formulation encapsulates the essential characteristics of the hardening response while ensuring the convexity of the yield surface, a crucial requirement for the mathematical consistency and well-posedness of the associated plasticity model. The reduced stress tensor $\sigma/\bar{\sigma}$ effectively normalizes the stress state, allowing for a clear delineation of yielding behavior across varying loading conditions.
- the normality property of the plastic flow rule
- the evolution equation of the hardening parameter $\bar{\epsilon}$ of the sound matrix, identical to Eq. (26).
- Given that the GLD model presented here exhibits the same structural properties, it can be concluded that it belongs to the class of Generalized Standard Materials (GSM), subject to the same constraints as Gurson (1977)' model. Specifically, this classification holds under two key assumptions: (i) the model operates within the linearized framework (infinitesimal strains and displacements), and (ii) the internal

state variables are limited to the plastic strain, $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^p$, and the hardening parameter, $\bar{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}}$, while treating both the porosity, f, and S that characterizes the voids' shape and orientation) as fixed quantities. This artificial simplification restricts the evolving internal variables to $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^p$ and $\bar{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}}$, in line with the assumptions used in Gurson's original formulation.

To fully exploit the beneficial properties of Generalized Standard Materials (GSM), particularly the guarantees of existence and uniqueness associated with the local projection problem, it is imperative to relax the two aforementioned constraints. This adjustment will facilitate a more comprehensive characterization of the material response and enable the application of advanced computational methods that align with the principles of GSM theory.

In the context of large displacements and strains, their impact on the numerical implementation within an Eulerian framework (as employed in this study) can be distilled into two critical aspects: (i) the equilibrium equations must be formulated in the context of the updated configuration at time $[t, t + \Delta t]$, necessitating the application of a finite deformation theory; and (ii) the constitutive model, specifically the (hypo)elasticity law, must incorporate appropriate corrections to uphold objectivity and frame indifference. These corrections are crucial for maintaining the invariance of the material response under arbitrary configurations, ensuring that the numerical simulations accurately reflect the physical behavior of the material during large deformations.

The first consideration mandates that at the commencement of each global elastoplastic iteration, the computational domain must be reconfigured to reflect the displacement field associated with the configuration at time $t + \Delta t$. This involves recalibrating the shape function derivatives with respect to the updated geometry, ensuring that all spatial discretizations are accurately represented. Once this geometric update is executed, the configuration is held constant throughout the iterative solution of the projection problem at each integration point. Consequently, this approach effectively simulates a scenario devoid of geometric updates, thereby establishing that the imposed geometric modification does not compromise the existence or uniqueness of the solution to the local return-mapping problem, which remains invariant under such transformations.

The second consideration necessitates the incorporation of the Jaumann derivative of the stress tensor $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ into the hypoelasticity law, as opposed to the conventional time derivative. The Jaumann derivative is distinguished from the standard derivative by the inclusion of terms that are functions of both the stress tensor $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ and the velocity gradient tensor $\nabla \boldsymbol{u}$ When discretizing these quantities using an explicit numerical scheme, they manifest as combinations of the stress tensor evaluated at time t and the gradient of the displacement increment $\nabla \boldsymbol{u} = \boldsymbol{u}(t + \Delta t) - \boldsymbol{u}(t)$. Notably, these combinations remain constant throughout the duration of a given elastoplastic iteration, allowing them to be incorporated as pre-corrections to the elastic predictor at the commencement of the iteration. Thus, the algorithm employed to solve the projection problem at each integration point effectively mirrors the scenario in which these corrections are absent, confirming that their application does not compromise the existence or uniqueness of the solution to the local return-mapping problem.

In consideration of the variations in f and S, we assume that the projection problem is formulated utilizing an explicit numerical scheme that is predicated on the parameter values at time t. As a result, these parameters are effectively fixed throughout the entirety of the solution procedure at each integration point. This methodology renders the projection algorithm analogous to a case where f and S are treated as temporally invariant. The existence and uniqueness of the solution are guaranteed by the inherent properties of Generalized Standard Materials (GSM), contingent upon the employment of an implicit scheme for the evolution of the internal state variables ε^p and $\bar{\epsilon}$. This framework ensures that the mathematical rigor necessary for stability and convergence is upheld in the numerical formulation.

In conclusion, to exploit the guarantees of existence and Halphen and Nguyen (1975), and Son (1977) for the solution to the local projection problem—albeit not to the global problem—articulated by within the theoretical framework of Generalized Standard Materials, it is essential to satisfy three foundational conditions in the formulation of the solution algorithm:

• In the hypo-elasticity formulation, discretize the supplementary terms arising from the Jaumann stress derivative by employing the stress tensor σ evaluated at time t. This approach ensures that the numerical treatment accurately captures the kinematic effects associated with the

material's evolving configuration.

- In the framework of the projection problem, employ an explicit numerical scheme for the discretization of the parameters f and S, ensuring that their values are consistently evaluated at each iteration of the algorithm.
- in the same problem, use an implicit scheme with respect to the parameters σ and $\bar{\epsilon}$

The GSM framework ensures that the model is thermodynamically consistent, meaning that: (i) the free energy is well-defined and convex with respect to the internal variables (e.g., strain and damage), (ii) the evolution laws for damage (or other internal variables) are derived from a potential, ensuring irreversibility and non-negative dissipation.

This consistency simplifies the numerical algorithms by providing a clear framework for how internal variables evolve and interact with the stresses and strains. For instance: (i) damage evolution will always be incremental and irreversible, so you won't need to implement checks to prevent damage reduction, (ii) the use of potentials provides a systematic way to derive consistent incremental evolution equations for the internal variables.

Numerical schemes for solving the GLD model, particularly for damage evolution, can benefit from implicit time integration schemes because:

- the evolution of internal variables like damage tends to be stiff, meaning damage can evolve very rapidly under certain conditions. Explicit schemes may require very small time steps to remain stable.
- Implicit schemes are more robust and can handle larger time steps without compromising stability, especially when the dissipation potential ensures a thermodynamically admissible solution.

In implicit integration, the internal variables are updated at each time step by solving a system of nonlinear equations (often using Newton-Raphson methods). This can be efficiently handled because the convexity of the dissipation potential and the free energy guarantees the stability and convergence of the numerical solution.

In finite element implementations, when solving for stresses and strains, you need the algorithmic tangent modulus (or consistent tangent operator)

for faster convergence of the nonlinear solver (such as Newton-Raphson). For GSM models, including the GLD model, the tangent modulus is derived from the free energy and the evolution for the damage.

The consistent tangent modulus accounts for both the elastic behavior and the influence of damage, ensuring that the finite element solution converges efficiently. This is particularly important in nonlinear problems where damage evolution significantly alters the stiffness of the material.

One numerical challenge in the GLD model arises from the fact that local damage models (like the original Gurson model) can lead to mesh dependency and localization of damage, resulting in non-physical results (e.g., spurious mesh sensitivity). This is because the damage evolution may localize into a single element, which reduces the convergence of the solution. we mitigate this issue, you adopt the following strategy:

- Implement nonlocal damage models or gradient-enhanced damage models, which introduces a length scale into the damage variable to spread the damage over a region, improving numerical robustness.
- Alternatively, we could use regularization techniques that introduce additional terms in the free energy to avoid mesh dependence.

6. Application 1: Simulation of a 2D Compact Tension (CT) specimen

In this section, the accuracy of the numerical implementation is assessed by replicating the fracture test performed by Devaux and Mottet ?. The test utilized a CTJ 25 compact tension specimen fabricated from 16MND5 stainless steel, subjected to loading under plane strain conditions. The specimen's nominal dimensions are 50 mm in width, 50 mm in height, and 25 mm in thickness. A rectangular notch with a width of 2 mm is machined into the top surface, transitioning near the root into a triangular configuration with an apex angle of 60°. Additionally, a fatigue pre-crack, measuring 1.34 mm in length and propagating from the notch root, was introduced prior to testing, though it is not depicted in the figure.

Plane strain conditions were maintained due to the relatively large thickness of the specimen compared to its in-plane dimensions, constraining the deformation in the thickness direction and ensuring that the out-of-plane strain components are negligible. This constraint leads to a higher triaxial stress state at the crack tip, which is critical for accurately assessing the material's fracture behavior and validating the numerical model's predictive performance.

The discretized geometry of the specimen is depicted in Figure 1. To reduce computational complexity, the symmetry of the specimen about its vertical mid-plane is leveraged, allowing for a simulation of only the right half of the geometry. The triangular elements in the mesh represent a wedge idealized as an elastic continuum with equivalent isotropic elastic properties matching those of the 16MND5 steel. The center of the wedge corresponds to the centroid of the circular hole machined into the CT specimen. Boundary conditions are imposed by applying a controlled vertical displacement at the centroid of the wedge, simulating the load transfer mechanism and ensuring consistency with the experimental setup. This approach maintains the fidelity of the stress-strain response while optimizing computational resources.

In this study, a single 2D finite element mesh is adopted, as a rigorous mesh sensitivity analysis was previously conducted in the numerical simulations of TA pre-cracked specimens, as reported in Enakoutsa et al. (2007); Enakoutsa (2007). These earlier studies confirmed that the selected mesh density ensures sufficient spatial resolution for accurately capturing the lo-

calized stress and strain gradients near the crack tip, while maintaining computational efficiency. As a result, further mesh refinement or sensitivity analysis was deemed unnecessary for the present investigation, given the convergence and robustness demonstrated in prior work.



Figure 1: The figure presents the fine mesh configuration utilized in the computational analysis of the CTJ 25 pre-cracked specimen, which is critical for accurately capturing stress distribution and crack propagation. A refined mesh in finite element modeling enhances the simulation's fidelity, particularly in areas with high stress gradients around the crack tip. This detailed mesh allows for precise calculations of the material's mechanical response, facilitating a better understanding of how crack geometry and loading conditions affect fracture behavior. Ultimately, this careful meshing improves the accuracy of simulation results and aids in validating the modeling approach against experimental data.

In the experimental setup, the inclusion of lateral central triangular notches and the defined opening angle ensured that the region of crack propagation experienced near plane strain conditions, enabling a two-dimensional numerical analysis. However, the assumption of ideal plane strain conditions is an approximation. To accurately correlate the simulation with the experimental results, the experimentally applied force must be normalized by an "equivalent thickness" of the specimen, which accounts for deviations from the actual thickness in capturing the three-dimensional stress state. This correction has been rigorously investigated by Bosse (2009), who determined an optimal equivalent thickness of 10.3 mm based on a detailed analysis of the stress distribution. This value is employed in the present study to enhance the fidelity of the simulation results. The material properties and constitutive parameters utilized in the model are listed in Table B.1 in the Appendix.

Figure 2 illustrates the experimental load-displacement curve (depicted

by black points) in conjunction with the numerical results obtained via both kinematic and isotropic hardening formulations. The simulations reveal that the inclusion of kinematic hardening (results not presented here) yields negligible deviations from the isotropic hardening results, attributed to the uniaxial tension loading conditions employed in the numerical analysis. Additionally, the initial iteration of the nonlocal damage model demonstrates excessive smoothing of the porosity distribution in the ligament region ahead of the crack tip, culminating in a significant and abrupt decrease in the loaddisplacement response. This anomaly can be rectified by implementing the natural logarithm in the porosity evolution equation, as depicted in Figure 2. However, the disparity between the numerical predictions derived from the modified nonlocal Gurson model (incorporating isotropic hardening) and the actual experimental data is markedly pronounced, necessitating urgent intervention. This discrepancy can be effectively minimized through meticulous calibration of the parameters f_c , representing the critical porosity threshold at the onset of coalescence, and the cavity growth acceleration factor δ , thus ensuring a robust alignment between theoretical predictions and experimental observations.



Figure 2: Comparison of experimental and computed load–displacement curves of the CT specimen.

7. Applications 2: Simulation of Ductile Fracture in a Notched Steel Plate using the GLD Damage Model with Peridynamics

7.1. Generalities

This section discusses the integration of the Gurson-Leblond-Devaux (GLD) damage model with the peridynamic framework to model ductile fracture in materials, a complex phenomenon influenced by microstructural features such as void formation and growth. While the GLD model provides a robust framework for capturing damage evolution through a damage variable that accounts for voids in ductile materials, the peridynamic theory offers a non-local approach to continuum mechanics that effectively describes the initiation and propagation of cracks. By combining these two methodologies, this work aims to enhance the predictive capabilities of material failure under various loading conditions.

7.2. GLD Damage Model

.

The GLD damage model is characterized by the evolution equation for the damage variable f:

$$\dot{f} = (1 - f) \operatorname{tr}(\dot{\varepsilon}^p) \tag{82}$$

where \dot{f} represents the rate of change of damage, f is the damage variable, and ε^p is the plastic strain tensor. The term $\operatorname{tr}(\varepsilon^p)$ captures the volumetric plastic strain, which drives the damage evolution.

The damage variable f ranges from 0 (undamaged state) to 1 (fully damaged state). This property allows the model to represent the gradual degradation of material properties as damage accumulates throughout the loading process.

7.3. Peridynamic Theory

Peridynamics is a non-local continuum mechanics theory that enables modeling of material behavior without relying on traditional gradient concepts. The fundamental equation of peridynamics is expressed as:

$$\frac{du(\mathbf{x},t)}{dt} = \int_{B} H(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}) \,\psi(\mathbf{y},u(\mathbf{y},t)) \,dV \tag{83}$$

where $u(\mathbf{x}, t)$ is the displacement field, H is the interaction kernel describing force contributions from neighboring material points, and ψ is the deformation energy density function.

7.4. Interaction Kernel

The interaction kernel H governs the range and nature of interactions among particles in the material. A commonly used form for the kernel is:

$$H(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = \begin{cases} C\left(1 - \frac{||\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}||}{\delta}\right) & \text{if } ||\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|| < \delta\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(84)

where C is a constant and δ is the horizon, which represents the distance over which interactions are considered.

7.5. Combining GLD with Peridynamics

To effectively combine the GLD damage model with the peridynamic framework, we replaced the local stress measures in the GLD model with their peridynamic counterparts. This integration is crucial for capturing the non-local interactions during damage evolution.

7.5.1. Damage in Peridynamics

In the peridynamic context, the evolution of the damage variable f can be reformulated as:

$$\dot{f} = (1 - f) \operatorname{tr} \left(\int_{B} H(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) \,\dot{\varepsilon}^{p}(\mathbf{y}) \, dV \right)$$
(85)

This expression enables consideration of non-local interactions in the damage evolution process, which is essential for accurately modeling crack initiation and growth.

7.5.2. Numerical Implementation

The numerical implementation of the combined GLD damage model and peridynamic equations involve several key steps, which we detail below.

Discretization

- Spatial Discretization: We discretized the domain into a mesh of particles, where each particle represents a material point with associated state variables (e.g., displacement, damage). The mesh was constructed such that the particles are distributed uniformly throughout the domain, ensuring an accurate representation of material properties and interactions.
- Horizon Selection: The horizon δ was determined for each particle to establish the interaction range. A smaller horizon increases accuracy but may lead to higher computational costs, while a larger horizon can reduce the resolution of interactions.

7.5.3. Time Integration

We employed a suitable numerical method for time integration: (i) Explicit Time Integration: The explicit scheme updates the state variables at each time step based on the previous state. This method is advantageous for dynamic simulations where stability conditions are met. The update equation is:

$$u^{n+1} = u^n + \Delta t \cdot \frac{du(\mathbf{x}, t)}{dt} \Big|_{t^n}$$
(86)

Here, Δt is the time step, which must be chosen carefully to maintain stability and accuracy.

(ii) Implicit Time Integration: For static or quasi-static problems, we utilized an implicit scheme for improved stability, especially when dealing with large deformations. This approach involves solving a system of equations at each time step, providing better control over convergence:

$$K\mathbf{u}^{n+1} = F^{n+1} \tag{87}$$

where K is the stiffness matrix and F is the force vector.

7.5.4. Algorithm Steps

The algorithm for implementing the combined model was structured as follows:

- Initialization: Set initial conditions for displacement and damage variables based on the material properties. This includes defining the initial plastic strain and damage levels in the material.
- Iterative Loop:
 - Calculate Interaction Forces: Compute the peridynamic forces acting on each particle using the interaction kernel H. This step involves integrating over the horizon to capture contributions from neighboring particles.
 - Update Displacement Field: Update the displacement field u based on the calculated forces. This is performed using either explicit or implicit time integration methods, as discussed above.
 - Compute Plastic Strain: Evaluate the plastic strain ε^p using the updated displacement field. This requires a plasticity model that relates stress and strain under the influence of damage.

- Update Damage Variable: Update the damage variable f using the GLD model's evolution equation, incorporating the computed plastic strain.
- Check Convergence Criteria: Assess the convergence of the solution by monitoring changes in displacement and damage over iterations. If the changes are below a predefined threshold, the algorithm terminates.
- Output Results: Store the results for analysis and visualization. This includes displacement fields, damage distribution, and crack patterns.

7.6. Simulation Results

In this example, we simulate the ductile fracture of a notched steel plate subjected to uniaxial tensile loading using the combined GLD damage model and peridynamic framework. The simulation captures the effects of void growth and shape evolution on the fracture process.

Problem Setup

- The steel plate has dimensions $100 \text{ mm} \times 20 \text{ mm} \times 1 \text{ mm}$, with a central notch of 5 mm in length.
- Material properties:
 - Yield stress $\sigma_y = 450 \text{ MPa}$,
 - Young's modulus $E = 203 \,\text{GPa}$,
 - Poisson's ratio $\nu = 0.3$,
 - Initial porosity $f_0 = 0.00016$,
 - Initial shape factor $S_0 = 1.0$ (spherical voids).
- The GLD damage model is characterized by parameters q = 1.47, $f_c = 0.05$, and $\delta = 0.25$, A = 0.02 which govern the interaction between cavities, the porosity at the beginning of coalescence, the accelerator of coalescence, and the void nucleation parameter, respectively. These parameters are summarized in Table 1 in Appendix B.

Loading Condition

A displacement-controlled uniaxial tensile load is applied at the top boundary of the plate at a rate of 0.01 mm/s, while the bottom boundary is fixed.

Simulation Procedure

- Stress and Damage Evaluation: At each time step, the local stress state is computed using the GLD yield function, where the void volume fraction f and void shape factor S evolve according to the local plastic deformation. As the applied tensile load increases, the voids within the material grow (increasing f) and elongate (increasing S) due to the high triaxiality near the notch.
- Nonlocal Interaction (Peridynamics): The peridynamic framework models the interaction of material points over a finite horizon. Bonds between points weaken as voids grow and elongate. Once a critical porosity threshold $f_c = 0.05$ or void shape threshold $S_c = 3.0$ is reached, the bonds between points break, leading to crack initiation.
- Fracture Evolution: The simulation predicts crack initiation at the root of the notch where stress concentration is highest. As the porosity increases, the peridynamic bonds in this region progressively break, leading to crack propagation along the tensile axis. The evolution of void shape S significantly influences the direction of crack propagation, with elongated voids driving the crack growth in a zig-zag pattern due to the local heterogeneity of void shapes.

Results

The combined GLD-peridynamic model captures the fracture process with high fidelity. The influence of void shape evolution is evident in the non-linear crack path, which deviates from classical fracture patterns due to the directional nature of void elongation. The simulation successfully predicts the critical tensile load at which the fracture initiates, and the fracture toughness of the steel plate is computed based on the energy dissipated during crack growth.

The results from the simulations are presented above, illustrating the geometry, stress distribution, void growth, shape evolution, and crack patterns resulting from the combined model.



Figure 3: The geometry of the notched steel plate along with the mesh points. This figure illustrates the geometry of a notched steel plate used in the simulation. The blue rectangle represents the steel plate, while the red rectangle indicates the central notch, a critical feature for studying stress concentration and fracture behavior. The mesh points are shown as black dots along the edges, highlighting the discretization of the model for the peridynamic framework. Understanding the geometry and mesh setup is crucial for interpreting the subsequent analysis and results related to ductile fracture mechanisms



Figure 4: The void fraction (f) evolution over time steps. The plot depicts the evolution of the void volume fraction over multiple time steps during the loading process, highlighting the progressive accumulation of damage within the material as it experiences plastic deformation. In contrast, the right subplot presents the evolution of the shape factor (S), which quantifies the morphological changes of the voids within the material structure. Together, these plots offer valuable insights into the damage mechanisms at play in the notched steel plate under loading conditions. Understanding the relationship between void growth and the evolution of the shape factor is essential for accurately predicting ductile fracture behavior in metallic materials.



Figure 5: The initial stress distribution within the plate. This contour plot displays the initial stress distribution within the notched steel plate before any loading is applied. The color gradient indicates varying levels of von Mises stress across the plate. Noticeable stress concentrations are evident around the notch, which is expected due to the geometric discontinuity. This figure sets the foundation for understanding how initial stress states influence fracture behavior and provides a baseline for evaluating changes during loading.



Figure 6: The shape factor (S) evolution over time steps. The figure shows the evolution of the shape factor (S), which quantifies the morphological changes of voids in the material. Together with the evolution of the void volume fraction, these plots provide insight into the damage mechanisms occurring within the notched steel plate under loading conditions. The relationship between void growth and shape factor evolution is critical for predicting ductile fracture behavior in metallic materials.

The integration of the GLD damage model with the peridynamic framework has proven to be a powerful approach for simulating ductile fracture. This method enables accurate modeling of void evolution and crack propagation under complex loading conditions. The findings from this study contribute significantly to the understanding of material failure and provide a robust framework for future research in

This example demonstrates the capability of the combined GLD damage model and peridynamic framework to capture complex fracture processes in ductile materials. The inclusion of both void growth and shape evolution in the simulation provides insights into how void morphology affects fracture initiation and propagation, especially in regions of high stress triaxiality such as the vicinity of notches or defects.

8. Conclusion

In this study, we have rigorously explored the integration of the Generalized Standard Materials (GSM) formalism with classical and advanced models of metal plasticity, specifically focusing on the von Mises yield criterion and the GLD model for ductile fracture incorporating cavity shape effects. Our analysis demonstrates that the GSM framework not only provides a coherent theoretical underpinning for these models but also enhances their numerical implementation, particularly through established projection algorithms.

By establishing a clear relationship between the GSM formalism and the constitutive equations of the von Mises and GLD models, we highlighted the advantages of employing GSM in achieving robust numerical stability and convergence in finite element analyses. We further addressed the projection problem inherent in the numerical implementation of the GLD model, confirming that under the assumptions of fixed porosity and a constant cavity shape factor, a unique solution can be obtained. This finding is critical for ensuring the reliability of simulations involving ductile fracture in porous materials.

Additionally, our simulations of the fracture behavior of a Compact Test specimen subjected to tensile loading provide empirical validation of the GLD model, aligning closely with experimental data for 16 MND Steel. This alignment not only reinforces the predictive capabilities of the GLD model but also underscores the potential of the GSM framework in enhancing the accuracy and applicability of material modeling in engineering contexts.

In conclusion, this work paves the way for further investigations into the GSM formalism, inviting future research to explore its applications across a broader spectrum of material behaviors and loading conditions. The findings presented herein contribute to the growing body of literature on advanced metal plasticity modeling, offering valuable insights for both theoretical advancements and practical applications in materials engineering.

References

- Enakoutsa K., Leblond J.B. and Perrin G., 2007. "Numerical Implementation and Assessment of a Phenomenological Nonlocal Model of Ductile Rupture," *Comput. Meth. Appl. Mech. Engng.*, **196**, 1946-1957.
- K. Enakoutsa, Modèle non-locaux en rupture ductile des métaux. Ph.D thesis, Université Pierre et Marie Curie (Paris VI), (2007) (in French).
- Halphen B. and Nguyen Q.S., 1975. Sur les matériaux standards généralisés, Journal de Mécanique, Journal de Mécanique, 14: 39-63.
- Son, N.Q., 1977. On the elastic plastic initial-boundary value problem and its numerical integration. International Journal for Numerical Methods in Engineering 11, 817–832.
- Fremond, M., 2002. "Non-smooth Thermomechanics." Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- Halphen B. and Nguyen Q.S., 1975. "Sur les Matériaux Standards Généralisés," *Journal de Mécanique*, 14, 39-63, (in French).
- Hackl, K., 1997. "Generalized Standard Media and Variational Principles in Classical and Finite Strain Elasto-plasticity," J. Mech. Phys. Solids, 45(5), 667-688.
- Lee, E.H., 1969. "Elastic-plastic Deformation at Finite Strain," J. Appl. Mech., 36, 1-6
- Hackl, K. and Hoppe, U. 2003. "On the Calculation of Microstructures for Inelastic Materials using Relaxed Energies." In C. Miehe, Eds, *IUTAM* Symposium on Computational Mechanics of Solids at Large Strains, 77-86, Kluwer
- Maugin, G., 1992. "The Thermomechanics of Plasticity and Fracture." Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Nguyen Q.S., 1977. "On the Elastic Plastic Initial-boundary Value Problem and its Numerical Integration," Int. J. Numer. Meth. Engng., 11, 817-832.
- Ziegler, H. and Wehrli, C., 1987. "The Derivation of Constitutive Relations from the Free Energy and Dissipation Functions," In Advances in Applied Mechanics, 25, 183-237. Academic Press, Orlando, FL.

- Gologanu M., Leblond J.B., Perrin G. and Devaux J., 1997. "Recent Extensions of Gurson's Model for Porous Ductile Metals," in: *Continuum Micromechanics*, CISM Courses and Lectures 377, P. Suquet ed., Springer, pp. 61-130.
- Gurson A.L. 1977. "Continuum Theory of Ductile Rupture by Void Nucleation and Growth: Part I - Yield Criteria and Flow Rules for Porous Ductile Media," ASME J. Engng. Materials Technol., 99, 2-15.
- Devaux J., Leblond J-B., Mottet G. and Perrin G., 1992. "Some new aplications of damage models for ductile metals," in: Application of Local Fracture/Damage Models to Engineering Problems, Proceedings of the ASME Summer Mechanics Meeting, Tempe (USA), American Society of Mechanical Engineers.
- Rousselier, G. and Mudry, F., 1983. "Etude de la rupture ductile de l'acier faiblement allie en Mn-Ni-Mo pour cuves de reacteurs a eau ordinaire sous pression, approvisionne sous la forme d'une debouchure de tubulure. Resultats du programme experimental," EdF Centre des Renardieres Internal Report HT/PV D529 MAT/T43 (in French).
- Tvergaard V., 1981. "Influence of voids on shear band instabilities under plane strain conditions," Int. J. Fracture, 17, 389-407.
- Tvergaard V. and Needleman A. (1984). Analysis of cup-cone fracture in a round tensile bar, *Acta Metallurgica*, **32**, 157-169.
- A. Brosse, Modélisation de déchirure ductile dans un tuyau inox Calage des paramètres de Wilkins, ESI France Internal, Report F/LE/09/042/D/BPE (in French), (2009), Lyon, France.

Appendix A. Class of Generalized Standard Materials

Appendix A.1. Generalities

The constitutive law of a GSM is specified using two thermodynamic potentials. The first one is the specific free energy $\psi(\varepsilon, \alpha)$, which is a function of the strain tensor **v** and a set of internal parameters collectively denoted as α . This function must be convex with respect to the variables ε and α taken separately (but not necessarily with respect to the global variable (ε, α)).

The free energy is provided by the differentiation of the stress tensor $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ and the thermodynamic force **F** associated with α :

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial \varepsilon} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{F} = -\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial \alpha}$$
(A.1)

The second thermodynamic potential is the dissipation potential, denoted as $\mathcal{D}(\dot{\alpha})$, which must be a convex, positive, and zero function for $\dot{\alpha} = 0$. This potential governs the evolution equations of the internal parameters through the following equivalent relationships:

$$\mathbf{F} \in \partial \mathcal{D}(\dot{\alpha}) \iff \dot{\alpha} \in \partial \mathcal{D}(\mathbf{F}) \tag{A.2}$$

The notation $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}$ represents the Legendre-Fenchel transform. ³

Here, $\partial \mathcal{D}$ and $\partial \tilde{\mathcal{D}}$ represent the sub-differentials of \mathcal{D} and $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}$ respectively.

For a time-independent behavior, as is the case in our work, the potential \mathcal{D} is positively homogeneous of degree 1 with respect to $\dot{\mathbf{a}}$.

Its Legendre-Fenchel transform, $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}(\mathbf{F})$, is then the indicator function⁴ of a closed convex set \mathcal{C} (the domain of reversibility) in the space of thermodynamic forces \mathbf{F} .

This set is defined by an inequality of the form $\Phi(\mathbf{F}) \leq 0$ for a certain function Φ , the sub-differential $\partial \tilde{\mathcal{D}}(\mathbf{F})$ is reduced to the zero vector **0** if **F** is contained within the convex set \mathcal{C} , coincides with the half-line

³It is recalled that: (i) the Legendre-Fenchel transform $\tilde{f}(\mathbf{y})$ of the function $f(\mathbf{x})$ is defined by the formula $\tilde{f}(\mathbf{y}) \equiv \sup_{\mathbf{x}} [\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y} - f(\mathbf{x})]$; (ii) its subdifferential $\partial f(\mathbf{x})$ at point \mathbf{x} is the set of points \mathbf{y} such that $\mathbf{y} \cdot (\mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{x}) \leq f(\mathbf{x}') - f(\mathbf{x})$ for all points \mathbf{x}' ; (iii) the equivalence $\mathbf{y} \in \partial f(\mathbf{x}) \iff \mathbf{x} \in \partial \tilde{f}(\mathbf{y})$ follows.

⁴Recall that the indicator function of a convex set takes the values 0 and $+\infty$ inside and outside the set, respectively.

 $\eta(\partial f/\partial \mathbf{F})(\mathbf{F}), \eta \geq 0$ if \mathbf{F} is on the boundary of \mathcal{C} , and is empty if \mathbf{F} is not contained in \mathcal{C} .

The evolution equation $[A.2]_2$ can thus be rewritten in an equivalent form:

$$\dot{\mathbf{a}} = \eta \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \mathbf{F}} \quad , \quad \eta = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } \Phi(\mathbf{F}) < 0\\ \ge 0 & \text{if } \Phi(\mathbf{F}) = 0 \end{cases}$$
(A.3)

This means that the evolution equation of \mathbf{a} follows a kind of generalized "normality property."

This immediately leads to a number of properties that the GSMs satisfy:

Appendix A.2. Properties of the GSMs

Appendix A.2.1. Property 1

The evolution law [A.3] of \mathbf{a} ensures the positiveness of the dissipation $\mathbf{F} : \dot{\mathbf{a}}$.

Indeed, the sub-differential of $\mathcal{D}(\dot{\mathbf{a}})$ is defined as:

$$\mathbf{F} \in \partial \mathcal{D}(\dot{\mathbf{a}}) \iff \forall \dot{\mathbf{a}}', \quad \mathbf{F} : (\dot{\mathbf{a}}' - \dot{\mathbf{a}}) \le \mathcal{D}(\dot{\mathbf{a}}') - \mathcal{D}(\dot{\mathbf{a}}).$$
 (A.4)

For $\dot{\mathbf{a}}' = 0$, this gives $-\mathbf{F} : \dot{\mathbf{a}}' \leq -\mathcal{D}(\dot{\mathbf{a}})$ (since $\mathcal{D}(\mathbf{0}) = 0$), which means $\mathbf{F} : \dot{\mathbf{a}}' \geq \mathcal{D}(\dot{\mathbf{a}}) \geq 0$ (due to the positiveness of \mathcal{D}).

Appendix A.2.2. Property 2

Let's agree that quantities indexed by ⁰ are taken at time t, and those without a particular symbol are taken at time $t+\Delta t$. If the evolution equation [A.3] for α is discretized in time using an implicit scheme, then the projection problem, which consists of determining the values of α or $\Delta \alpha \equiv \alpha - \alpha^0$ based on the values of ε^0 , α^0 , and $\Delta \varepsilon \equiv \varepsilon - \varepsilon^0$, is equivalent to minimizing the function $\chi(\varepsilon, \alpha^0, \Delta \alpha) \equiv \psi(\varepsilon, \alpha^0 + \Delta \alpha) + \mathcal{D}(\Delta \alpha)$ with respect to $\Delta \alpha$.

To establish this property, let's note that the condition ensuring that the function χ is minimal at the point $\Delta \alpha$ is given by:

$$\begin{array}{lcl}
\mathbf{0} & \in & \partial \chi(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\alpha}^{0}, \Delta \boldsymbol{\alpha}) \\
\Leftrightarrow & \mathbf{0} \in \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial \boldsymbol{\alpha}}(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\alpha}^{0} + \Delta \boldsymbol{\alpha}) + \partial \mathcal{D}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \\
\Leftrightarrow & -\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial \boldsymbol{\alpha}}(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\alpha}^{0} + \Delta \boldsymbol{\alpha}) \in \partial \mathcal{D}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \\
\Leftrightarrow & \mathbf{F} \in \partial \mathcal{D}(\Delta \boldsymbol{\alpha})
\end{array} \tag{A.5}$$

where **F** represents the thermodynamic force at time $t + \Delta t$.

The announced equivalence is then clear since the last expression is nothing but the evolution equation of α , written in the form $[A.2]_1$ instead of $[A.2]_2$, and discretized implicitly in time.

(Note that $\partial \mathcal{D}\left(\frac{\Delta \alpha}{\Delta t}\right) = \partial \mathcal{D}(\Delta \alpha)$ since \mathcal{D} is positively homogeneous of degree 1).

Since the functions $\psi(\varepsilon, \alpha^0 + \Delta \alpha)$ and $\mathcal{D}\Delta \alpha$ are convex with respect to $\Delta \alpha$, this equivalence guarantees the existence of the solution to the projection problem, and its uniqueness if the free energy is *strictly* convex⁵ with respect to α .

It also ensures the symmetry of the tangent matrix to be used to solve the projection problem, since this matrix is the Hessian matrix of the function χ .

Appendix A.2.3. Property 3

The tangent matrix of global elasto-plastic iterations is symmetric.

This third property is somewhat less obvious than the first two and arises from the second property. To establish it, we will employ a vector notation for stress and strain tensors: $\varepsilon \equiv (\varepsilon_i) 1 \leq i \leq 6$, $\boldsymbol{\sigma} \equiv (\sigma_i) 1 \leq i \leq 6$, along with internal variables: $\alpha \equiv (\alpha_p) 1 \leq p \leq N$. The relevant tangent matrix is then $(\partial \sigma_i / \partial \varepsilon_j) 1 \leq i, j \leq 6$ where $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ is expressed as a function of the unique variable ε using the expression:

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} \equiv \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial \varepsilon} [\varepsilon, \alpha(\varepsilon)] \tag{A.6}$$

Here, $\alpha(\varepsilon) = \alpha^{0} + \Delta \alpha(\varepsilon)$, and $\Delta \alpha(\varepsilon)$ minimizes the function $\chi(\varepsilon, \alpha^{0}, \Delta \alpha)$. By differentiating equation [A.6], we obtain:

$$\frac{\partial \sigma_i}{\partial \varepsilon_j}(\varepsilon) = \frac{\partial^2 \psi}{\partial \varepsilon_i \partial \varepsilon_j}(\varepsilon, \alpha(\varepsilon)) + \frac{\partial^2 \psi}{\partial \varepsilon_i \partial \alpha_p}(\varepsilon, \alpha(\varepsilon)) \frac{\partial \Delta \alpha_p}{\partial \varepsilon_j}(\varepsilon)$$
(A.7)

⁵The dissipation potential cannot be strictly convex, as its property of positive degree 1 homogeneity implies linearity along each half-line starting from the origin **0**.

To evaluate the derivatives $\partial \Delta \alpha_p / \partial \varepsilon_j$, we differentiate the conditions $\partial \chi / \partial \Delta \alpha_p = 0$ defining $\Delta \alpha$ with respect to ε_j , using the definition of the function χ :

$$\frac{\partial^2 \psi}{\partial \varepsilon_j \partial \alpha_p}(\varepsilon, \alpha(\varepsilon)) + \frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{D}}{\partial \Delta \alpha_p \partial \Delta \alpha_q}(\Delta \alpha(\varepsilon)) \frac{\partial \Delta \alpha_q}{\partial \varepsilon_j}(\varepsilon) = 0.$$
(A.8)

Let **M** denote the inverse of the Hessian matrix $(\partial^2 \mathcal{D} / \partial \Delta \alpha_p \partial \Delta \alpha_q)_{1 \le p,q \le N}$. Inverting equation [A.8], we obtain:

$$\frac{\partial \Delta \alpha_p}{\partial \varepsilon_j}(\varepsilon) = -M_{pq}(\Delta \alpha(\varepsilon)) \frac{\partial^2 \psi}{\partial \varepsilon_j \partial \Delta \alpha_q}(\varepsilon, \alpha(\varepsilon))$$
(A.9)

Substituting this result into equation [A.7], we have:

$$\frac{\partial \sigma_i}{\partial \varepsilon_j}(\varepsilon) = \frac{\partial^2 \psi}{\partial \varepsilon_i \partial \varepsilon_j}(\varepsilon, \alpha(\varepsilon)) - \frac{\partial^2 \psi}{\partial \varepsilon_i \partial \alpha_p}(\varepsilon, \alpha(\varepsilon)) M_{pq}(\Delta \alpha(\varepsilon)) \frac{\partial^2 \psi}{\partial \varepsilon_j \partial \Delta \alpha_q}(\varepsilon, \alpha(\varepsilon)),$$
(A.10)

which clearly reveals the symmetry of the matrix $(\partial \sigma_i / \partial \varepsilon_j)_{1 \le i,j \le 6}$.

In summary, from the above, three main insights can be drawn.

The first insight pertains to the convexity of the function $\varphi(+\Delta\varepsilon, \alpha + \Delta\alpha) + \mathcal{D}(\Delta\alpha)$ with respect to the variable $\Delta\alpha$. This ensures the existence of the minimum, and consequently, the solution to the "projection problem."

The second insight concerns the uniqueness of the solution to the projection problem. It is achieved under the condition that φ is strictly convex with respect to the variable α . It should be noted that \mathcal{D} is convex but not strictly so, as it is positively homogeneous of degree 1.

The third insight, finally, pertains to the symmetry of the tangent matrix necessary for minimizing $\chi(\varepsilon, \alpha^0, \Delta \alpha) \equiv \psi(\varepsilon, \alpha^0, \Delta \alpha) + \mathcal{D}(\Delta \alpha)$ with respect to $\Delta \alpha$. Therefore, there is symmetry in the tangent matrix within the projection problem.

Appendix B. Material parameters for the simulations

The material parameters for the simulations presented above are as follows:

E	ν	Σ_0	q	f_0	f_c	$l \ (\mu m)$	δ	A
Gpa		Mpa						
203	0.3	450	1.47	0.00016	0.05	0.05	0.2	0.002

Table B.1: Material parameters used for the numerical simulations on the CT specimen and the fictious plate